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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)
M QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2012

OR

00 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-35375

Zynga Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 42-17334832
(State of Incorporation) (IRS Employer
Identification No.)

699 Eighth Street

San Francisco, CA 94103
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(855) 449-9642
(Telephone No.)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by SectiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirefilésuch reports) and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es M No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokilb site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRiule 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedi@gribnths (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to submit and post filed). Yes M No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlexge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file M (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbel company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 2gb-Yes [ No M

As of July 13, 2012, there were 464,327,754 shafrése Registrant’s Class A common stock outstagd74,786,764 shares of the
Registrant’s Class B common stock outstanding &817,472 shares of the Registrant’s Class C constomk outstanding.
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Zynga, the Zynga logo and other trademarks or semviarks of Zynga appearing in this report areptioperty of Zynga. Trade names,
trademarks and service marks of other companiesaapy in this report are the property of theipegive holders.

References in this report to “DAUs” mean daily eetusers of our games, “MAUS” mean monthly actisers of our games, “MUUS”
mean monthly unique users of our games, “ABPU” rsearerage daily bookings per average DAU and “MURsan monthly unique payers
of our games. Unless otherwise indicated, theseiecaetre based on internally-derived measurememtssa all platforms on which our games
are played. For further information about ABPU, D&WIAUS, MUPs, and MUUs as measured by us, sesdtiéon titled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operatior— Key Metrics”
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwimaking statements. In some cases you can idethtéfge statements by forward-
looking words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “ésnate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “could “would,” “project,” “plan,” “expect,” or
similar expressions, or the negative or plurahefse words or expressions. These forward-lookigistents include, but are not limited to,
statements concerning the following:

» our future relationship with Faceboc

e our corporate strategy and initiativi

» designing games for mobile and other -PC devices, and pursuing mobile initiatives getgr

» our successful growth internationally and in adgerg revenue

» our evaluation of new business opportunities, idiclg real money gaming

* launching new games and enhancements to gamesr¢hedmmercially successfi

» user traffic to the Zynga platform and publishiragrges from thir-party developers on the Zynga platfoi
» continued growth in demand for virtual goods anthimsocial games industt

* building and sustaining our franchise garn

» the ability of our games to generate revenue antihgs for a significant period of time after labnand the timing for mark
acceptance of new game

» capital expenditures and investment in our netvigitastructure, including data cente
» our use of working capital in gener
» retaining and adding players and increasing theatimation of our player bas

e maintaining a technology infrastructure that cdicetly and reliably handle increased player wsdgst load times and tl
deployment of new features and produ

« attracting and retaining qualified employees anggersonnel

* maintaining, protecting and enhancing our intellatproperty.

e protecting our playe’ information and adequately addressing privacy cors;enc
» successfully acquiring and integrating companiesassets

These forward-looking statements are subject toraler of risks, uncertainties and assumptionsudinl those described in “Part II.
Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Quarterly Reporteorm 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitind rapidly changing environment
and industry. New risks emerge from time to tintés hot possible for our management to predicoBthe risks related to our business and
operations, nor can we assess the impact of aiifon our business or the extent to which antofaor combination of factors, may cause
actual results to differ materially from those @inéd in any forward-looking statements we may makéght of these risks, uncertainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and cirdamses discussed in this Quarterly Report on Fdi+® Inay not occur and actual results
could differ materially and adversely from thosdicpated or implied in the forward-looking statemis

You should not rely upon forward-looking statemeagredictions of future events. Although we haithat the expectations reflected
in the forward-looking statements are reasonabéecannot guarantee that the future results, lefastivity, performance or events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-lookingestatnts will be achieved or occur. We undertakebigation to update any forward-looking
statements for any reason to conform these statsrteeactual results or to changes in our expegtati

1
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)
(Unaudited)

Assets

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Marketable securitie

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $162 ah@i3%at June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, résglgc
Income tax receivabl

Deferred tax asse

Restricted cas

Other current asse

Total current asse

Long-term marketable securiti
Goodwill

Other intangible assets, r
Property and equipment, r
Restricted cas

Other lon¢-term asset

Total asset

Liabilities and stockholde’ equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Other current liabilitie:

Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred revenu

Deferred tax liabilities
Other nor-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholder equity:

Common stock, $.00000625 par value, and additipaal in capital — authorized shares: 2,020,517resha
outstanding: 758,624 shares (Class A, 450,737 s@a&87,370, Class C, 20,517) as of June 30, aad2
721,592 (Class A, 121,381, Class B, 579,694, QIax0,517) as of December 31, 2(

Treasury stocl

Accumulated other comprehensive inca

Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.

December 31

June 30,

2012 2011
$ 435,98( $1,582,34.
780,96: 225,16!
115,91( 135,63:
6,50: 18,58:
29,60¢ 23,51t
28,59 3,84¢
52,71« 34,82
1,450,27. 2,023,90!
426,24 110,09¢
202,01( 91,76¢
139,13! 32,11
499,42¢ 246,74(
— 4,08z
7,65 7,94(
$2,724,74. $2,516,641
$ 3521 $ 44,02
164,56} 167,27:
447, 79( 457,39
647,57 668,68!
100,00 —
10,14: 23,25!
55,16: 13,95(
48,86¢ 61,22
861,74 767,10°
2,648,401 2,426,16!
(283,25¢) (282,89)
114 362
(502,25() (394,09,
1,863,001 1,749,53!
$2,724,74;  $2,516,64i
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

PageZ.0f.50

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
Revenue
Online game $291,54¢ $263,97: $584,32( $493,87.
Advertising 40,94¢ 15,17( 69,131 28,16:
Total Revenut 332,49: 279,14 653,46! 522,03:
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 94,84 78,07¢ 184,96: 145,73¢
Research and developmt 171,31¢ 95,747 358,19: 167,50
Sales and marketir 56,05t 38,09¢ 112,89. 78,25¢
General and administrati\ 48,73( 54,21¢ 121,44! 81,32¢
Total costs and expens 370,94. 266,13¢ 777,49: 472,82
Income (loss) from operatiol (38,449 13,00¢ (124,02) 49,207
Interest incomt 1,08¢ 44% 2,37¢ 961
Other income (expense), r 21,25( 20C 20,10¢ (53€)
Income (loss) before income tax (16,119 13,64¢ (101,54, 49,63:
Provision for income taxe (6,69€) (12,257 (6,61¢) (31,487
Net income (loss $(22,81) $ 1,391 $(108,16) $ 18,14¢
Net income attributable to participating securi — 1,391 — 18,14¢
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhia $(22,81) $ — $(108,16)) $ —
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholder:
Basic $ (00 $ o00C $ (015 $ o0.0C
Diluted $ (00 $ o00C $ (015 $ o0.0C
Weighted average common shares used to computecoete (loss) per sha
attributable to common stockholde
Basic 730,51( 262,66: 718,55¢ 260,41:
Diluted 730,51( 262,66 718,55¢ 260,41:

See accompanying notes.
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011

Net income (loss $(22,817) $1,391 $(108,16:) $18,14¢
Other comprehensive income (los

Change in foreign currency translation adjustn (374 (28) (259) (32)

Net change on unrealized gains (losses) on ave-for-sale investments, net of t (14%) (35) 5 (209)

Other comprehensive los (522 (63 (24¥) (140
Comprehensive income (los: $(23,337) $1,32¢  $(108,41() $18,00¢

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidate

Operating activitie:
Net income (loss

Zynga Inc.

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to meshcprovided by operating activitie

Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based expens
Gains from sales of investments, assets and atht
Gain on termination of lease and purchase of ngldinet
Tax benefits from sto-based award
Excess tax benefits from st-based award
Accretion and amortization on marketable secur
Deferred income taxe
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n
Income tax receivabl
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi
Sales of marketable securiti
Maturities of marketable securiti
Purchase of corporate headquarters buil
Acquisition of property and equipme
Acquisition of purchased technology and other igtale asset
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu
Change in restricted ca
Sales and (purchases) of other investm
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activitie:
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of issuande
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of z
Repurchases of common stc
Exercise of stock options and warra
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred s
Excess tax benefit from stc-based award
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casaénts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe

See accompanying notes.

d Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012 2011
$ (108,16 $ 18,14¢
68,60¢ 41,21
229,30’ 47,617
(399 —
(19,88¢) —
5,21( —
(5,210 —
7,12¢ 1,52¢
(7,540 —
24,75¢ (21,759
14,16¢ 20,67
(9,545 (30,09
(9,389 27,00:
(22,719 39,301
(20,490 34,08¢
145,84: 177,71¢
(1,238,11) (490,83))
80,09¢ 2,13¢
274,07¢ 607,71
(233,700 —
(77,919 (124,719
(3,199 (3,709
(192,769 (18,549
6,53¢ (7,489
937 (589)
(1,384,04) (36,027
99,78( —
(25,090 —
— (281,270)
12,02¢ 1,72¢
— 485,30(
5,21( —
91,92¢ 205,75¢
(93 27
(1,146,36) 347,48:
1,582,34. 187,83:
$ 435,98( $ 535,31
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Zynga Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Blicies
Organization and Description of Business

Zynga Inc. (“Zynga,” “we” or “the Company'gevelops, markets and operates online social gamkge services played over the Inte
and on social networking sites and mobile platforviie generate revenue primarily through the in-gaaie of virtual goods. Our operations
are headquartered in San Francisco, Californiayantave several operating locations in the U.Svelkas various international office
locations in Asia and Europe.

We were originally organized in April 2007 as aif@ahia limited liability company under the nameeBidio Media LLC, converted to a
Delaware corporation in October 2007 and changechamne to Zynga Inc. in November 2010. We completadinitial public offering in
December 2011 and our Class A common stock igllistethe NASDAQ Global Select Market under the sghiBNGA.”

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemampresented in accordance with United Statesrgnaccepted accounting
principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated finaniciiatements include the operations of us and dwllyowned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beemaled in the consolidation.

Accounting Policy Updates

The accompanying interim consolidated financialesteents and these related notes should be reahjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes includeximAnnual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended¢@&mnber 31, 2011 (the “Annual
Report”).

In the second quarter of 2012, we establishediaypfur accounting for derivative financial instremts used to manage interest rate risk.
We account for these instruments in accordance Adtiounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 81Berivatives and Hedgingwhich
requires that every derivative instrument be reedrdn the balance sheet as either an asset ditjiahéasured at its fair value as of the
reporting date. ASC 815 also requires that chairgear derivativesfair values be recognized in earnings, unless fipémdge accounting a
contemporaneous documentation criteria are methinh case, the change in fair value related tceffective portion of the hedge may be
recognized as a component of accumulated other idrapsive income (i.e., the instruments qualifyHfiedge accounting treatment). Any
ineffective or excluded portion of a designatechdémw hedge is recognized in earnings. There Hmen no other significant changes to our
accounting policies that were disclosed in our AadrReport that impact our consolidated financiatesnents and related notes.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying interim consolidated balance sieef June 30, 2012, the interim consolidateestants of operations for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, téréninconsolidated statements of comprehensivamec@oss) for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, the interim congetidsiatements of cash flows for the six monthsdridine 30, 2012 and 2011 and the
related footnote disclosures are unaudited. Theaadited interim financial statements have beepgyesl in accordance with U.S. GAAP. In
management’s opinion, the unaudited interim finahsiatements have been prepared on the sameakakis audited financial statements and
include all adjustments of a normal recurring natuecessary for the fair presentation of the Coryigastatement of financial position and
operating results for the periods presented. Thaltefor the three and six months ended June@IX® are not necessarily indicative of the
results expected for the full fiscal year or antufe period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make estisiand assumptions that af
the reported amounts in the consolidated finarstetements and notes thereto. Significant estinsatdsassumptions reflected in the financial
statements include, but are not limited to, therested lives of virtual goods that we use for rax@necognition, the chargeback reserve for our
third-party payment processors, the allowance fwbdful accounts, useful lives of property and pquent and intangible assets, accrued
liabilities, income taxes, accounting for businesmbinations, stock-based expense and evaluatigoadwill, intangible assets, and lofged
assets for impairment. Actual results could diffeaterially from those estimates.

6
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2. Marketable Securities

The following tables summarize our amortized cggtss unrealized gains and losses and fair valoaoévailable-for-sale investments

in marketable securities (in thousands):

June 30, 2012

(unaudited)
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Aggregate
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs $ 657,02 $ 93 $ (115 $ 657,00°
Corporate debt securiti 549,60¢ 41¢€ (482) 549,54.
Municipal securitie: 65€ — — 65€
Total $1,207,29: $ 511 $ (599 $1,207,20
December 31, 201
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Aggregate
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and government agency debt sexsuriti $ 267,63! $ 53 $ (B3 $ 267,63!
Corporate debt securiti 67,651 35 (64) 67,62¢
Total $ 3329 $ 88 $ (117) $ 33526

The estimated fair value of available-feale marketable securities, classified by theitreatual maturities was as follows (in thousan

Due within one yea
After one year through three ye:

Total

June 30, 201;
(unaudited)

$ 780,96¢
426,24

$1,207,20

Changes in market interest rates and bond yieldseceertain of our investments to fall below thgist basis, resulting in unrealized
losses on marketable securities. As of June 3@,20& had unrealized losses of $0.6 million reldtetharketable securities that had a fair
value of $905.6 million. As of December 31, 201%, mad unrealized losses of $0.1 million relatechéwketable securities that had a fair value
of $111.1 million. None of these securities wera icontinuous unrealized loss position for more tha months.

As of June 30, 2012 and December 31, 2011, wedatidonsider any of our marketable securities tother-than-temporarily impaired.
When evaluating our investments for other-than-@ragy impairment, we review factors such as thgtleof time and extent to which fair
value has been below its cost basis, the finagoiadlition of the issuer, our ability and intentiald the security and whether it is more likely

than not that we will be required to sell the inwesnt before recovery of its cost basis.

3. Fair Value Measurements

Our financial instruments consist of cash equivialeshort-term and long-term marketable securéiesaccounts receivable. Accounts
receivable, net, are stated at their carrying vahéch approximates fair value due to the shaometio expected receipt of cash.

7
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Cash equivalents and short-term and lterga marketable securities, consisting of moneyketafunds, U.S. government and governn
agency debt securities, municipal securities amdarate debt securities, are carried at fair vatech is defined as an exit price, representing
the amount that would be received to sell an amsgeaid to transfer a liability in an orderly traiction between knowledgeable and willing
market participants. The carrying value of long¥tetebt approximates fair value, which is primakised on valuation models, using the net
present value of cash flows over the term usingneséd market rates for similar instruments andaieing terms (Level 3). These valuation
techniques involve some level of management estomaind judgment, the degree of which is dependeirice transparency for the
instruments or market and the instruments’ compjexi

Fair value is a market-based measurement thatatbeutletermined based on assumptions that knovdbtiyand willing market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiWe use a three-tier value hierarchy, whictoptizes the inputs used in measuring fair
value as follows:

Level 1 — Observable inputs that reflect quotedgsi(unadjusted) for identical assets or liabditreactive markets.
Level 2 — Includes inputs, other than Level 1 irgpthat are directly or indirectly observable ie tharketplace.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supportetittbey or no market activity.

The composition of our financial instruments amtmgthree Levels of the fair value hierarchy isadl®ws (in thousands):

June 30, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(unaudited)
Assets:
Money market fund $ 323,090 $ — $ — $ 323,09(
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs — 657,00 — 657,00°
Corporate debt securitir — 549,54 — 549,54.
Municipal securitie! — 65€ — 65€
Total $ 323,090 $1,207,20 $ — $1,530,29
Liabilities:
Long-term debt $ — $ — $100,00 $ 100,00(
December 31, 201
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Money market fund $1,375,911  $ — $ — $1,375,91
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs — 267,63! — 267,63!
Corporate debt securiti — 68,33/ — 68,33¢
Total $1,375,911 $ 335,96¢ $ — $1,711,88

4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfinusands):
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December 31

June 30,
2012 2011
(unaudited)

Computer equipmet $ 292,22( $ 243,98¢
Software 28,08¢ 25,11¢
Land 89,13( —
Building 187,16: —
Furniture and fixture 12,61 9,474
Leasehold improvemen 19,09¢ 67,45¢

628,31( 346,03!
Less accumulated depreciati (128,88 (99,299
Total property and equipment, r $ 499,42¢ $ 246,74(

Acquisition of Corporate Headquarters Buildi

On April 2, 2012, we purchased our corporate headgts building located in San Francisco, Califarinom 650 Townsend Associates,
LLC to support the overall growth of our busind®srsuant to the agreement, we also acquired exidtird-party leases and other intangible
property and terminated our existing office leaséh the seller. In accordance with ASC 88isiness Combinationsve accounted for the
building purchase as a business combination. Thehpse consideration for the corporate headquastgiding was as follows (in thousands,
unaudited):

Cash $233,70(
Gain on termination of belc-market leas: 41,05¢
Total purchase considerati $274,75¢

The gain on the termination of the below-markeséeegepresents the difference between the conttantoamum rental payments owed
under our previously-existing leases and the magtes of those same leases. The following tablesarizes the fair values of net tangible
and intangible assets acquired (in thousands, uteal)d

Building $182,77-
Land 89,00(
Acquired lease intangible 2,984
Total $274,75¢

In addition to the gain recognized on the termoratf the below-market lease, we recognized a ga$25.1 million from the write-off
of deferred rent liability and we recognized a 106$46.2 million resulting from the write-off oéhsehold improvements, as any value ascribec
to these leasehold improvements were reflecteldaridir value of the acquired building. These antetnave been included in other income
(expense), net in our consolidated statements efadipns.

We have included the rental income from third péegses with other tenants in the building, andottoportionate share of building
expenses for those leases, in other income (experetein our consolidated results of operationsifthe date of acquisition. These amounts
were not material for the periods presented.

The useful life for the building acquired in therporate headquarters purchase is expected to pea39 and will be amortized on a
straight-line basis.

5. Acquisitions

Acquisition of OMGPOP On March 21, 2012, we acquired 100% of the onthtey stock of OMGPOP, Inc., a provider of sociaihgs
for mobile phones, tablets, PCs and social netwités, for purchase consideration of approxima#@§3.1 million in cash. We acquired
OMGPOP to expand our social games offerings, pdeity on mobile platforms. Goodwill from the acsition represents the excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of the net talegand intangible assets acquired and is not dibdieifor tax purposes. Goodwill recorded in
connection with this acquisition is primarily alitable to the assembled workforce of the acquitesiness and the synergies expected to arise
after our acquisition of the business. The prelamjrfair value of assets

9
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acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisitsosubject to change as we obtain additional médion for our estimates during the applici
measurement period. The primary areas that argatdinalized relate to acquired income and norine based taxes and residual goodwiill.

Other Acquisitions During the six months ended June 30, 2012, waieedjthree companies in addition to OMGPOP foaggregate
purchase price of $10.6 million, all of which waaigin cash.

The following table summarizes the fair values ef tangible and intangible assets acquired fdouginess acquisitions for the six
months ended June 30, 2012 (in thousands, unajdited

OMGPOP
1 Other Total
Developed technology $ 83,59( $ 3,87¢ $ 87,46¢
Branding intangible asse 33,53( — 33,53(
Deferred tax liabilitie: (42,87)) — (42,87))
Net tangible assets acquired (liabilities assun 5,05¢ — 5,05¢
Goodwill 103,78: 6,721 110,501
Total $183,08t $10,60( $193,68t

(1) Includes the impact of adjustments to goodwill tsg from changes in net assets (liabilities) d@oegland other adjustments, pursuar
our business combinations polic

The useful lives for the developed technology arhding intangible assets acquired in the OMGPQfuiaition are three years and
seven years, respectively, and will be amortized straight-line basis. For all acquisitions cortgdeduring the six months ended June 30,
2012, the weighted-average useful life of all idfeed acquired intangible assets is 4.06 yearsenthie weighted-average useful life for
developed technologies is 2.93 years. Developduhtdogies associated with acquisitions are beingréieed over periods ranging from one to
three years.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying value of goodwill from Daber 31, 2011 to June 30, 2012 are as followsh@ngands, unaudited):

Goodwill — December 31, 201 $ 91,76¢
Additions 111,04¢
Foreign currency translation adjustme (257)
Goodwill adjustment (5406
Goodwill — June 30, 201 $202,01(

Amortization expense of acquisition-related intdgiassets for the three months ended June 30,&@L2011 was $14.5 million and
$6.4 million, respectively. Amortization expenseagfjuisition-related intangible assets for thensonths ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 was
$21.5 million and $12.3 million, respectively. ABJune 30, 2012, future amortization expense relti¢he intangible assets is expected to be
recognized as shown below (in thousands, unaudited)

Year ending December 3

2012 $ 25,157
2013 37,18¢
2014 33,02¢
2015 11,76¢
2016 and thereafte 15,56
Total $122,70¢

10
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7. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes was $6.7 million &6d6 million in the three and six months endedeJ8®, 2012, respectively. The
income tax expense for the three and six montheaddne 30, 2012 was impacted by acquisitionstaddsts of implementing our
international structure.

For the foreseeable future, we expect that ouct¥e tax rate will be impacted by additional tagpense associated with the
implementation of our international tax structunel dhe deductibility of stock-based expense. Adrifdementation of our international tax
structure is completed, we anticipate that ouratiffe tax rate will be lower than the U.S. statytmate.

8. Long-term Debt and Derivative Financial Instruments

On June 29, 2012, we entered into an agreemeattiEnmm loan of $100 million due June 30, 2017, wrdable interest rate equal to the
bank’s prime rate, or at our election, the thresiomonth LIBOR plus a 0.75 percent credit spréztective July 3, 2012, we made a
permanent election to use the three month LIBOR plid5 percent credit spread. Interest paymentdwinade quarterly commencing on
September 30, 2012 and the three month LIBOR edlet once per quarter. The amounts borrowed degerallized by our corporate
headquarters building. The loan will be used faregal corporate purposes and we may prepay theloemmin full or in part at any time.

Concurrently with the execution of the loan agreetnee entered into an interest rate swap agreeraffattive July 3, 2012, to modify
the variable interest obligation so that the irgerate is fixed at two percent. The critical temfishe interest rate swap agreement and the $10(
million term loan match, including the notional amnés and maturity dates. Accordingly, we will desite the interest rate swap as a qualif
hedging instrument and accounted for it as a dagshledge in accordance with ASC 8D grivatives and Hedgingln subsequent quarters,
the derivative instrument will be recorded on thdabce sheet as either an asset or liability medsafrits fair value as of the reporting date.

9. Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities consist of the followirfig thousands):

December 31

June 30,

2012 2011

(unaudited)
Customer deposil $ 38,69: $ 50,14(
Accrued escrow for acquisitiol 33,44¢ 7,24z
Other 92,42t 109,88¢
Total other current liabilitie $164,56! $ 167,27

Customer deposits represent amounts received fedeaemed game cards as well as advanced paymemtsdirious customers. Accru
payable from acquisitions mainly relates to amotwetsl in escrow under the terms of certain of agpugsition agreements. Other liabilities
include various expenses that we accrue for traiosetaxes, compensation liabilities and accruezbants payable.

11
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10. Stockholders’ Equity

We recorded stockased expense related to grants of employee arsdiitant stock options, warrants, restricted stouk estricted stoc
units (“ZSUs”) in our consolidated statements oéigtions as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Cost of revenu $ 3200 % 53¢ $ 10,01¢ $ 1,087
Research and developm 65,24¢ 14,60¢ 143,39: 23,94
Sales and marketir 12,21¢ 5,331 25,13: 7,771
General and administrati\ 14,79: 12,63¢ 50,76¢ 14,81¢
Total stocl-based expens $ 9545¢ $ 33,117 $ 229,300 $ 47,617

The following table shows stock option activity the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in thous@xdept weighted-average exercise
price and remaining contractual term):

Qutstanding Options

Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Intrinsic Value of Average
Average Contractual Term
Exercise Stock Options
Stock Options Price Outstanding (in years)
(unaudited)
Balance as of December 31, 2( 102,31 $ 0.6¢ $ 892,13! 7.04
Granted — —
Forfeited and cancelle (2,399 0.8¢
Exercisec (22,53) 0.4z
Balance as of June 30, 20 77,38¢ $ 0.7¢€ $  362,00: 7.1¢

The following table shows a summary of ZSU acti¥dy the six months ended June 30, 2012 (in thadsaexcept weighted-average fair
value and remaining term):

Qutstanding ZSUs

Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Average Intrinsic Value of Average
Grant Remaining Term
Date Unvested
Shares Fair Value ZSUs (in years)
(unaudited)
Unvested as of December 31, 2( 79,81¢ $ 11.2¢ $ 751,09 1.4¢
Granted 23,67 9.71
Vested (16,259 11.67
Forfeited and cancelle (7,189) 11.2C
Unvested as of June 30, 2C 80,04¢ $ 10.7(C $ 435,45¢ 1.87

11. Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock

We compute net income (loss) per share of commaokstsing the twalass method required for participating securitig$or to the dat
of the initial public offering, we considered adirges of our convertible preferred stock to beipgating securities due to their non-cumulative
dividend rights. Additionally, we consider shargsuied upon the early exercise of options subjeetorchase and unvested restricted shal
be participating securities, because holders df shares have non-forfeitable dividend rights & th
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event we declare a dividend for common sharescdnralance with the two-class method, net inconmaeated to these participating securities,
which include participation rights in undistributedt income, is subtracted from net income (losg)ettermine total net income (loss) to be
allocated to common stockholders.

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed Yigdidg net income (loss) attributable to commorcklwlders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during th@g@ehh computing diluted net income (loss) attrédhle to common stockholders, net
income (loss) is re-allocated to reflect the pagdiimpact of dilutive securities, including stooftions, warrants, unvested restricted stock and
unvested ZSUs. Diluted net income (loss) per slsatemputed by dividing net income (loss) attrillléato common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstgnidiciuding potential dilutive securities. For jpels in which we have generated a net
loss or there is no income attributable to comntonldholders, we do not include stock options, watsand unvested ZSUs in our calculation
of diluted net income (loss) per share, as the anpathese awards is anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation aéie and diluted net income (loss) per share ofrsomstock (in thousands, except per
share data):

Three Months Ended June 30,

2012 2011
Class Class Class Class Class Class
A B C A B C
(unaudited)

BASIC:
Net income (loss $(10,18¢) $(11,98:) $ (641) $— $ 1,28 $ 10¢
Net income attributable to participating securi — — — — 1,28 10¢
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhis $(10,18¢) $(11,98) $ (641) $— $ — $ —
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 326,27 383,71¢ 20,517 — 242,14 20,517
Basic net income (loss) per shi $ (0.0)) $ (009 $ (0.0 0.0 $ 0.0 $ 0.0C
DILUTED:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhs-basic $(10,18¢) $(11,98:) $ (641) $— $ — $ —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result ofvession of Class C

shares to Class B shares and Class A sl (641) — — — — —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result ofvession of Class |

shares to Class A shat (11,987 — — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-diluted $(22,81) $(11,98) $ (641) $— $ — $ —
Weighte-average common shares outstan-basic 326,27- 383,71¢ 20,511 — 242,14 20,517
Conversion of Class C to Class A common sharesandig 20,51% — — — — —
Conversion of Class C to Class B common sharesamdisng — — — — 20,515 —
Conversion of Class B to Class A common sharedandig 383, 71¢ — — — — —
Weighte-average common shares outstan-diluted 730,51( 383,71¢ 20,517 — 262,66: 20,517
Diluted net income (loss) per sh $ (0.0 $ (0.05 $ (0.0 9$0.0Cc $ o0.0C $ o0.0C

13
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BASIC:
Net income (loss
Net income attributable to participating securi

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhid
Weighte-average common shares outstanc
Basic net income (loss) per shi

DILUTED:

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhie-basic

Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result ofvession of Class ¢
shares to Class B shares and Class A sl

Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result afvession of Class |
shares to Class A shai

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhs-diluted
Weighte-average common shares outstan-basic

Conversion of Class C to Class A common sharesandsng
Conversion of Class C to Class B common sharesamditng
Conversion of Class B to Class A common sharegandsg

Weighte-average common shares outstan-diluted
Diluted net income (loss) per sh

Documentl34-7__Eiled05/31/13._Pagel8.0£.50

Six Months Ended June 30

2012

2011

Class Class Class Class Class Class
A B C A B C
(unaudited)

$ (34,049 $(71,020 $(3,08) $—  $16,71¢ $ 1,43(
_ — — — 16,71¢ 1,43(

$ (34,04 $(71,020 $(3,08) $— $ — $ —
226,18 471,84¢ 20,51 — 239,89 20,51
$ (015 $ (0.15 $ (0.15 $0.0C $ 0.0C $ 0.0C
$ (34,04 $(71,020 $(3,08) $— $ — $ —
(3,08¢) — — — — —
(71,026) — — — — —
$(108,16) $(71,026 $(3,08) $— $ — $ —
226,18¢ 471,84¢ 20,517 — 239,89’ 20,517
20,517 — — — — —
— — — — 20,517 —
471,84¢ — — — — —
718,55 471,84¢ 20,51 — 260,41 20,51
$ (015 $ (0.15 $ (0.15 $0.0C $ 0.0 $ 0.0C
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The following weighted-average employee equity asavere excluded from the calculation of dilutetlineome (loss) per share
because their effect would have been anti-dilutbrehe periods presented (in thousands, unaudited)

Stock options

Warrants

Restricted share

ZSUs
Total

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

Three Months Ended June 30

Six Months Ended June 30

2012 2011 2012 2011
85,407 89,98¢ 92,93¢ 89,42¢
69t 12,04¢ 69t 12,04«
16,08: — 18,30( —
50,76 — 60,70 —
152,94¢ 102,03¢ 172,63t 101,47(

We have entered into operating leases for fadliiiecluding data center space. As of June 30, 2012e minimum lease payments

related to these leases are as follows (in thossamaudited):

Legal Matters

Year ending December 31

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016 and thereafte

$ 16,32¢
33,07¢
32,94¢
30,19¢
85,24:
$197,78

From time to time, we may become subject to legat@edings, claims, and litigation arising in thdioary course of business. In
addition, we may receive notification alleging infrement of patent or other intellectual propeigyts. Adverse results in litigation, legal
proceedings or claims may include awards of sulistanonetary damages, costly royalty or licensiggeements, or orders preventing us f
offering certain games, features, or services,maagl also result in changes in our business pragtiehich could result in additional costs or a
loss of revenue for us and could otherwise harnmboginess. Although the results of litigation carme predicted with certainty, we believe
that the amount or range of reasonably possibkeleelated to any pending or threatened litigasitimot have a material adverse effect on
our business, operating results, cash flows, @nfifal condition should such litigation be resoluedavorably. We recognize legal expenses as

incurred.

13. Geographical Information

The following represents our revenue based on ¢logmphic location of our players (in thousands):

Revenue

United State:

All other countries®
Total revenue

(1) No country exceeded 10% of our total revenue fgrgeriods presente:

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

June 30, June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011
(unaudited) (unaudited)
$200,18( $183,57. $396,63¢ $343,10:

132,31: 95,571 256,83( 178,93.

$332,49: $279,14«

$653,46!  $522,03:
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The following represents our property and equipmeet by location (in thousands):

Property and equipment, net

United State:
All other countries

Total property and equipment, r

16

December 31

June 30,

2012 2011
(unaudited)
$495,33¢ $ 242,55:

4,09( 4,18¢
$499,42¢ $ 246,74
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations in cargtion with the consolidated financ
statements and the related notes included elsewhéhés Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The follagidiscussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates afidfeeOur actual results could differ materialiypi those discussed in the forward-looking
statements and you are cautioned not to place unglisnce on forward-looking statements. Factorattbould cause or contribute to these
differences include those discussed below and bks@an this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, partanly in “Special Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors.”The forwambking statements included in this report are madly as of the date hereof.

Overview

We are the world’s leading online social game dewet with 306 million average MAUs in 175 countrigée have launched the most
successful social games in the industry in eadhefast three years. Our games are accessiblacebBok and other social networks, mobile
platforms and the Zynga platform, wherever and velven our players want. All of our games are frepléty, and we generate revenue through
the in-game sale of virtual goods and advertising.

We are a pioneer and innovator of social gamesadadder in making play a core activity on the inét. Our objective is to become the
worldwide leader in play by connecting the worldotigh games.

Consistent with our free-to-play business modetpgared to all players who play our games in anjodeonly a small portion of our
players are payers. Because the opportunity fdakimteractions increases as the number of plapergases, we believe that maintaining and
growing our overall number of players, including thumber of players who may not purchase virtuablgpis important to the success of our
business. As a result, we believe that the numbglagers who choose to purchase virtual goodsaaititinue to constitute a small portion of
our overall players as our business grows.

How We Generate Revenue

We operate our games as live services that allayeps to play for free. We generate revenue prigniim the in-game sale of virtual
goods and advertising. Revenue growth will depangldly on our ability to attract and retain playansl more effectively monetize our player
base through the sale of virtual goods and aduegti¥Ve intend to do this through the launch of ramnes, enhancements to current games
and expansion into new markets and distributiotfquians.

Online GameWe provide our players with the opportunity to ghase virtual goods that enhance their game-plagxpgrience. We
believe players choose to pay for virtual goodsliersame reasons they are willing to pay for ottiens of entertainment. They enjoy the
additional playing time or added convenience, thifita to personalize their own game boards, théstaction of leveling up and the
opportunity for sharing creative expressions. Weelbe players are more likely to purchase virtuabds when they are connected to and
playing with their friends, whether those friendaypfor free or also purchase virtual goods.

Facebook is the primary distribution, marketingymotion and payment platform for our games. We gdeesubstantially all of our
revenue and players through the Facebook platfowireapect to continue to do so for the foresechiblee.

We are subject to Facebook’s standard terms arditamms for application developers, which govera gromotion, distribution and
operation of games and other applications on tleelb@ok platform. We have entered into an addendutimeise terms and conditions pursuant
to which we have agreed to use Facebook Creditgldemk’s proprietary payment method, as the primaggns of payment within our games
played through Facebook and the Zynga platforms @ddendum expires in May 2015.

We began migrating to Facebook Credits in July 2@b@ in April 2011, we completed this migratiomdér the addendum, Facebook
remits to us an amount equal to 70% of the faceevaf Facebook Credits purchased by our playeraderin our games. We recognize reve
net of amounts retained by Facebook. Prior toalldendum, we used third-party payment processarpaid these processors service fees
ranging from 2% to 10% of the purchase price ofvortual goods which were recorded in cost of rexerPlayers can purchase Facebook
Credits from Facebook, directly through our gamethmugh game cards purchased from retailers &tditors.

In June 2012, Facebook announced its plans tomtise® the use of Facebook Credits and insteadostipicing in local currencies. We
expect our games to transition away from Facebaekli® and to adopt Facebook’s local currency-basgthents model by the end of 2012.

On platforms other than Facebook, players purchaseirtual goods through various widely acceptagirpent methods offered in the
games, including credit cards, PayPal, Apple iTulamounts and direct wires. Players can purchase gards from retailers and distributors
that can be redeemed on these platforms.
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Advertising.Advertising revenue primarily includes brandeduwéitgoods and sponsorships, engagement ads amsl, offebile ads,
display ads and licensing. We generally reportamlvertising revenue net of amounts due to advegtiagencies and brokers.

Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includthg following key financial and operating metritts evaluate our business, measure
our performance, identify trends in our businesspare financial projections and make strategigsa®ts.

Key Financial Metrics

BookingsBookings is a non-GAAP financial measure that isado revenue recognized during the period plesctiange in deferred
revenue during the period. We record the salertiial goods as deferred revenue and then recogmzeevenue over the estimated average
life of the purchased virtual goods or as the akgoods are consumed. Advertising sales whichisbakcertain branded virtual goods and
sponsorships is also deferred and recognized beegdtimated average life of the branded virtualdgsimilar to online game revenue.
Bookings, as opposed to revenue, is the fundameagdine metric we use to manage our businesaiedselieve it is a better indicator of the
sales activity in a given period. Over the longrtethe factors impacting our bookings and revenmadlae same. However, in the short term,
there are factors that may cause revenue to exudeel less than bookings in any period.

We use bookings to evaluate the results of ouratjpers, generate future operating plans and afisegserformance of our company.
While we believe that this non-GAAP financial megsis useful in evaluating our business, this imfation should be considered as
supplemental in nature and is not meant as a sutiestor revenue recognized in accordance with G&SAP. In addition, other companies,
including companies in our industry, may calculadekings differently or not at all, which reducesusefulness as a comparative measure.

The following table presents a reconciliation ofereue to bookings for each of the periods presefimethousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
Reconciliation of Revenue to Bookings
Revenue $ 332,49: $ 279,14. $653,46! $522,03:
Change in deferred reven (30,909 (4,407 (22,719 39,301
Bookings $ 301,58¢ $ 274,74 $630,75. $561,34:

In July 2010, we began migrating to Facebook Csealitthe primary payment method for our games glty@ugh Facebook, and by
April 2011, we had completed this migration. Faadbremits to us an amount equal to 70% of the fatee of Facebook Credits purchasec
our players for use in our games. We record boakargl recognize revenue net of the amounts retbpn&adcebook. Prior to adoption of
Facebook Credits, we recorded a majority of oumnenjame revenue at the gross price charged toutstemer.

Adjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDA is a hon-GAAP financial measuretth& calculate as net income (loss), adjustedgnision
for) / benefit from income taxes; other income (@xge), net; interest income; gain (loss) from lesgtilements; depreciation and amortization;
stock-based expense and change in deferred rewAfaubelieve that adjusted EBITDA provides usefibimation to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our operating resulfse same manner as our management and boanceoffodls.

We have included adjusted EBITDA in this QuartdRlgport on Form 10-Q because it is a key measunese¢o evaluate our financial
and operating performance, generate future opgratans and make strategic decisions for the dilmcaf capital. Accordingly, we believe
that adjusted EBITDA provides useful informationnwestors and others in understanding and evalgiatiir operating results in the same
manner as our management and board of directorde Wh believe that this non-GAAP financial measigraseful in evaluating our business,
this information should be considered as suppleatémhature and is not meant as a substitutehiorelated financial information prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The following table presents a reconciliation of ileome (loss) to adjusted EBITDA for each of fflegiods indicated (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 2012 2011

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBIDA:
Net income (loss $ (22,81) $ 1,391 $(108,16) $ 18,14¢
Provision for income taxe 6,69¢ 12,257 6,61¢ 31,48
Other income (expense), r (21,250 (200) (20,109 53¢
Interest incom (1,089 (443 (2,375 (961)
Legal settlement — — 88¢ —
Depreciation and amortizatic 39,201 23,36 68,60¢ 41,21
Stock-based expens 95,45¢ 33,11 229,30° 47,617
Change in deferred reven (30,909 (4,407 (22,719 39,30
Adjusted EBITDA $ 65,30¢ $ 65,08( $ 152,06: $177,34:

Limitations of Bookings and Adjusted EBITDA
Some limitations of bookings and adjusted EBITDA:ar
» adjusted EBITDA does not include the impact of k-based expens

» bookings and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect thatdeéer and recognize online game revenue and revieam certain advertising
transactions over the estimated average life efi@irgoods or as virtual goods are consun

» adjusted EBITDA does not reflect income tax expe

» adjusted EBITDA does not include other income axukase (net), which includes foreign exchange ganslosses, and interest
income;

» adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation and amoitimeénd although these are -cash charges, the assets being depreciate
amortized may have to be replaced in the fut

» adjusted EBITDA does not include gains and losses@ated with legal settlements; ¢

» other companies, including companies in our ingustray calculate bookings and adjusted EBITDA défely or not at all, whicl
reduces their usefulness as a comparative me:

Because of these limitations, you should considekimgs and adjusted EBITDA along with other fin@hperformance measures,
including revenue, net income (loss) and our ofimancial results presented in accordance with GSAP.

Key Operating Metrics

We manage our business by tracking several opgratetrics: “DAUs,” which measure daily active usef®ur games, “MAUS,” which
measure monthly active users of our games, “MUMIEh measure monthly unique users of our game&JPs]” which measure monthly
unigue payers in our games, and “ABPU,” which measour average daily bookings per average DAUW) e&evhich is recorded by our
internal analytics systems.

DAUs. We define DAUs as the number of individuals wieypd one of our games during a particular day.ddiis metric, an
individual who plays two different games on the sahay is counted as two DAUSs. Similarly, an indiadlwho plays the same game on two
different platforms (e.g., web and mobile) or omtdifferent social networks on the same day woelddunted as two DAUs. Average DAUs
for a particular period is the average of the DAtIseach day during that period. We use DAUs asasure of audience engagement.

MAUs.We define MAUs as the number of individuals whoypld a particular game in the 30-day period endiith the measurement
date. Under this metric, an individual who play® tlfferent games in the same 30-day period is wmlas two MAUs. Similarly, an
individual who plays the same game on two diffefgatforms (e.g., web and mobile) or on two diffgreocial networks in a 30-day period
would be counted as two MAUs. Average MAUSs for gtipalar period is the average of the MAUs at eaxnth-end during that period. We
use MAUs as a measure of total game audience size.

MUUs. We define MUUs as the number of unique individwalt® played any of our games on a particular platfor the 30-day period
ending with the measurement date. An individual wlays more than one of our games in a given 30pgaipd would be counted as a single
MUU. However, because we cannot always distinguisijue individuals playing across multiple platf@;man
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individual who plays any of our games on two difietr platforms (e.g., web and mobile) in a givenda§-period may be counted as two ML

in the event that we do not have data that allosvwe-duplicate the player. Because many of tayeps play more than one game in a given
30-day period, MUUs are always lower than MAUs ity given time period. Average MUUs for a particyt@riod is the average of the MUUs
at each month-end during that period. We use MUJs measure of total audience reach across oupriebf’games.

MUPs. We define MUPs as the number of unique players mhde a payment at least once during the applicabhth through a
payment method for which we can quantify the nundfemique payers, including payers from certaiowf mobile games. MUPs does not
include payers who use certain smaller web-basgoh@at methods or payers from certain of our mofmes for which we cannot quantify
the number of unique payers. If a player made angay in our games on two separate platforms (egelbook and Google+) in a period, the
player would be counted as two unique payers ingedod. MUPs are presented as an average ofitee months in the applicable quarter.

Average Bookings per User (ABPWYe define ABPU as (i) our total bookings in a giyesriod, divided by (ii) the number of days in
period, divided by, (iii) the average DAUs duritgtperiod. We believe that ABPU provides usefubinfation to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our results in theesam@nner as our management and board of direfitersise ABPU as a measure of overall
monetization across all of our players throughghle of virtual goods and advertising.

Our business model for social games is designekatpas there are more players that play our gasoeegal interactions increase and the
more valuable the games and our business becorenddged players of our games help drive our bagskand, consequently, both online
game revenue and advertising revenue. Virtual gacelpurchased by players who are socializing withmpeting against or collaborating w
other players, most of whom do not buy virtual gaoficcordingly, we primarily focus on bookings, D8\MAUs, MUUs, MUPs and ABPU,
which together we believe best reflect the econoralae of all of our players.

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2012 2011 2012 2011

(users and payers in millions’ (users and payers in millions’
Average DAUs 72 59 69 60
Average MAUs 30€ 22¢ 29¢ 232
Average MUUs 192 151 187 14¢
Average MUP: 4.1 NA 3.8 NA
ABPU $ 0.04¢ $ 0.05] $ 0.051 $ 0.051

NA means data is not availab

The increase in DAUs for the three months endeé 30 2012 as compared to same period of the yeiErwas the result of new users
from Draw Something a game we acquired through the OMGPOP acquisitimneases in MAUs and MUUs for the three montideel
June 30, 2012 as compared to same period of theywar were primarily the result of mobile plageowth. The increases in DAUs, MAUs
and MUUs for the six months ended June 30, 20Xk®darpared to same period of the prior year were gnilgnthe result mobile player growth.

Future growth in audience and engagement will deémemour ability to retain current players, attraetv players, launch new games and
expand into new markets and distribution platforamg] the success of the Zynga platform. Our opegatietrics may not correlate directly to
quarterly bookings or revenue trends in the slewrht

Recent Developments

Building Purchase On April 2, 2012, we purchased our corporate fjgaders building located in San Francisco, Califoto support
the overall growth of our business. We paid $238illion in cash for the corporate headquartersding, which is approximately 670,000
square feet of space. At the time of purchaseeristing leases in the building were terminated.

Secondary OfferingOn April 3, 2012, we completed an underwrittecoselary public offering of 49,414,526 shares of Glass A
common stock. All of the shares were sold by sglitockholders at a price to the public of $12.80ghare. As part of the offering, all selling
stockholders, including the participating officarsd directors, agreed to lock-up agreements thahded the transfer restrictions on their
remaining shares owned until at least 90 daysvatig the offering. The principal purposes of théedhg were to facilitate an orderly
distribution of shares into the public markets émahcrease the compamsypublic float. We did not receive any proceedsftbe sale of shart
in the offering.
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Game LaunchesWe launched six games during the second quaf@01®, including three titles on web-based platfsyBubble Safari
Ruby BlasandThe Ville,and three titles on mobile platformr&mbie SwipeoytMatching With FriendaandZynga Slots

Second Quarter Operating ResultSur operating results for the second quartet0dPXeclined as compared to the first quarter 4220
Total bookings were $301.6 million in the secondnter of 2012, which represented an 8% decreaspa@ to the first quarter of 2012.
Excluding the impact dbraw Something DAUs, MAUs and MUUs decreased in the second guaift2012 compared to the first quarter of
2012.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Changes in Facebook or other platforrRsicebook is the primary distribution, marketingympotion and payment platform for our social
games. We generate substantially all of our boakingvenue and players through the Facebook ptatford expect to continue to do so for
foreseeable future. Except as to terms that hawerwise been negotiated between the parties, Fakebual other platforms have the discretion
to change their platforms, terms of service an@iofiolicies with respect to us or other developans, those changes may be unfavorable to us
For the three months ended June 30, 2012 and 2@&léstimate that 80% and 93% of our quarterly baogki respectively, was generated
through the Facebook platform. For the three moatited June 30, 2012 and 2011, we estimate thaB@¥83% of our quarterly revenue,
respectively, was generated through the Facebadfopih. We have had to estimate this informatiocelse certain payment methods used do
not allow us to determine the platform used.

Launch of new games and release of enhancemeéntsbookings and revenue growth have been diiyethe launch of new games and
the release of fresh content and new featuresigtieg games. Although the amount of revenue arukings we generate from a new game or
an enhancement to an existing game can vary signifiy, we expect our revenue and bookings growtbetcorrelated to the success and
timely launch of our new games and our successl@asing engaging content and features.

Game monetizationWe generate most of our bookings and revenue fhensale of virtual goods in our games. The detyreehich our
players choose to pay for virtual goods in our gamelriven by our ability to create content amduégl goods that enhance the game-play
experience. Our bookings, revenue and overall firdperformance are affected by the number ofgiagnd the effectiveness of our
monetization of players through the sale of virg@abds and advertising. For example, ABPU decrefised $0.055 in the first quarter of 2012
to $0.046 in the second quarter of 2012, which paatially due to a shift in our user base to mob#éees includingpraw Something a mobile
game that increased our overall player base, lbunali monetize as well as some of our core web gameddition, international players have
historically monetized at a lower level than U.&yers on average. The percentage of paying mahileinternational players may increase or
decrease based on a number of factors, includimgtfrin mobile games as a percentage of total g@meéour overall international players,
localization of content and the availability of pagnt options.

Investment in game developmeirt order to develop new games and enhance themoand features in our existing games, we must
invest in a significant amount of engineering anehtive resources. These expenditures generallyr meonths in advance of the launch of a
new game or the release of new content, and thitiresrevenue may not equal or exceed our devedoroosts.

Investment in technology stacWe host a significant portion of our game traffit our own network infrastructure. We will contato
invest in our network infrastructure, with the goéreducing our reliance on third-party web-hogtiervices and moving towards the use of
self-operated data centers. Under this approactmostdata and traffic for our games on serveratimtin the data centers that we lease, build
and operate. Investment in our network infrastmectuill require capital expenditures for equipmeéffe believe that over the long term, this
investment will produce further operating leverdgaeducing our game operation costs and will enbaur games and player experience.
However, as we continue to grow, the capital inwmestt necessary to build our infrastructure willdigmificant and is expected to require that
we successfully migrate our games to our netwditagtructure to ensure the best customer serviceuoplayers.

Player acquisition costdVe utilize advertising and other forms of playeguisition and retention to grow and retain our plagudience.
These expenditures generally relate to the promatfaew game launches and ongoing performancedlasgrams to drive new player
acquisition and lapsed player reactivation. Oweetithese acquisition and retention-related prognar@y become either less effective or more
costly, negatively impacting our operating results.

New market developmeMt/e are investing in new distribution channels sashhe Zynga platform and mobile and other platégrm
including other social networks and in internatiomarkets to expand our reach and grow our busif@ssexample, we have continued to hire
additional employees and acquire companies witleeapce developing mobile applications. We have migested resources in integrating
operating some of our games on additional platfoinduding Google+, mixi, Sina Weibo and Tencékg.we expand into new markets and
distribution channels, we expect to incur headcowatrketing and other operating costs in advandkefissociated bookings and revenue.
financial performance will be impacted by our inweent in these initiatives and their success.
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Stock-based expense related to outstanding ZBiis. to our initial public offering, we granted BS to our employees that generally
vested upon the satisfaction of both a serpieged condition of up to four years and a liquidivent condition, the latter of which was satd
upon our initial public offering. Because the lidity event condition was not met until our init@alblic offering, prior to the fourth quarter of
2011, we had not recorded any expense relatedrtdSus. In the three and six months ended Jun2@I®, we recognized $78.8 million and
$172.7 million, respectively, of stock-based exgeredated to ZSUs.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our results of opienas for the periods presented as a percentagevehue for those periods.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
Consolidated Statements of Operations Dat:
Revenue 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%
Costs and expense
Cost of revenur 29 28 28 28
Research and developmt 52 34 55 32
Sales and marketir 17 14 17 15
General and administratiy 14 19 19 _ 16
Total costs and expens 112 95 11¢ _ 9
Income (loss) from operatiol 22 5 (29 9
Interest incom: — — — —
Other income (expense), r __ 6 = __ 3 =
Income (loss) before income tax (6) 5 (16) 9
(Provision for) / benefit from income tax @ 5 _ @ __(®
Net income (loss (N% 0% (A% _ 3%
Revenue
Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Revenue by type:

Online game $ 291,54¢ $ 263,97: 10% $ 584,32t $ 493,87 18%
Advertising 40,94¢ 15,17( 17C% 69,13’ 28,16 145%

Total revenu $ 332,490 $ 279,14 19% $ 653,46! $ 522,03: 25%

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

Total revenue increased $53.3 million in the seaqpumatter of 2012, as compared to the same peritiiegbrior year, as a result of grov
in both online game and advertising revenue. Bagkincreased by $26.8 million in the second quat@012, as compared to the same pe
of the prior year. ABPU decreased from $0.051 t®46 in the second quarter of 2012, as compar#tetesame period of the prior year, while
average DAUs increased from 59 million to 72 millim the second quarter of 2012.

Online game revenue increased $27.6 million insé@ond quarter of 2012, as compared to the sanwdmsrthe prior yearCastleVille,
Zynga Poker, CityVilleandFarmVille accounted for $23.6 million, $14.4 million, $118da$11.1 million of the increase, respectively. The
increases in revenue froBastleVilleandCityVille were the result of the more recent launch datesehber 2011 and December 2010,
respectively, of these games. The increase in te&vélemZynga Pokewas mainly due to bookings growth on mobile platfer The increase
in revenue fronFarmVille was due to new content releases, which resultb@rer bookings over the last several quarteroagpared to
bookings generated prior to the second quartefdi 2The growth in online game revenue was offgetdrreases in revenue of $29.9 million
and $25.8 million fronfrontierVille andMafia Wars, respectively. The decrease in revenue flsomtierVille was primarily due to a change
in our estimated average life of durable virtuabd®in the second quarter of 2011, resulting i8E80 million increase to revenue in that
quarter. All other games accounted for the remginiet increase in online game revenue of $22.4anifor the second quarter of 2012.
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International revenue as a percentage of totahmeyaccounted for 40% and 34% in the second quair912 and 2011, respectively.

In the three months ended June 30, 2GB2mVille, Zynga Poker andCityVille were our top revenue-generating games and comprised
29%, 18%, and 13%, respectively, of our online gaavenue for the period. In the three months eddeg 30, 2011FarmVille,
FrontierVille, Zynga PokelandMafia Warswere our top revenue-generating games and com®2ig¥d 19%, 14% and 14%, respectively, of
online game revenue for the period. No other gaemegted more than 10% of online game revenuegleither of these periods.

Consumable virtual goods accounted for 28% and @Péfiline game revenue in the second quarter o 20 2011, respectively.
Revenue from consumable virtual goods accounte@3®6 of the increase in online game revenue irsétend quarter of 2012 as compare
21% in the same period of the prior year.

Durable virtual goods accounted for 72% and 71%ndihe game revenue in the second quarter of 2682811, respectively. Revenue
from durable virtual goods accounted for 75% anth @ the increase in online game revenue in thersequarter of 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The estimated weightaderage life of durable virtual goods was 12 moifthshe second quarter of 2012 compared to 14 hy
for the second quarter of 2011. In addition, charigeour estimated average life of durable virg@bds during the second quarter of 2012 for
various games resulted in an increase in reven8.@fmillion as compared to the same period optihar year.

Advertising revenue increased $25.8 million in $eeond quarter of 2012 as compared to the samedpefrthe prior year, due to a $26.0
million increase in in-game display ads.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddinded June 30, 2011

Total revenue increased $131.4 million in the sonths ended June 30, 2012, as compared to thepenod of the prior year, as a res
of growth in both online game and advertising rexerBookings increased by $69.4 million in thersianths ended June 30, 2012 as comg.
to the same period of the prior year. ABPU forshemonths ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 remair@l@&1, while average DAUs increa:
from 60 million for the six months ended June 3@ 2to 69 million for the six months ended JuneZ2i,2.

Online game revenue increased $90.5 million insikenonths ended June 30, 2012 as compared t@the geriod of the prior year.
CastleVille, CityVille, FarmVille, Empires & AllieandZynga Pokeaccounted for $41.7 million, $40.4 million, $35.3limn, $17.1 million,
and $16.7 million of the increase, respectivelye Titreases in revenue frabastleVille, CityVilleandEmpires & Allieswere the result of
more recent launch dates, November 2011, Decenli€r 2nd June 2011, respectively, of these games$3h.3 million increase in
FarmVille was the result of a change in our estimated avdifagef durable virtual goods and higher bookirfigsn new content releases
throughout 2011 and 2012. The increase in revermme Zynga Pokewas mainly due to bookings growth on mobile platfer The growth in
online game revenue was offset by decreases imuevef $52.3 million, $19.7 million, and $17.7 rioh from Mafia Wars, FrontierVilleand
Treasure Isle The decrease in revenue frémontierVille was primarily due to a change in our estimatedayetife of durable virtual goods
in the second quarter of 2011, resulting in an @1&llion increase to revenue in the six monthseehdune 30, 2011. All other games
accounted for the remaining net increase of $29ldm

International revenue as a percentage of totalmer@ccounted for 39% and 34% in the six monthe@ddne 30, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

In the six months ended June 30, 2(H&mVille, Zynga PokerandCityVille , were our top revenue-generating games and coeapris
29%, 17%, and 15%, respectively, of our online gaavenue for the period. In the six months ended B0, 2011FarmVille, Zynga Poket
Mafia Wars,andFrontierVille were our top revenue-generating games and comRig¥g 16%, 16%, and 14%, respectively, of onlinega
revenue for the period. No other game generatee than 10% of online game revenue during eithéhede six month periods.

Consumable virtual goods accounted for 29% and 8R2éfline game revenue in the six months ended 30n2012 and 2011,
respectively. Revenue from consumable virtual gaad®unted for 13% of the increase in online gaewenue in the six months ended
June 30, 2012, as compared to 25% in the samedpafrihe prior year.

Durable virtual goods accounted for 71% and 68%ndihe game revenue in six months ended June 3@ aAd 2011, respectively.
Revenue from durable virtual goods accounted fé &nd 75% of the increase in online game reventigeiisix months ended June 30, 2012,
and 2011, respectively. The estimated weightedameelife of durable virtual goods was 13 months in
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the six months ended June 30, 2012, compared toeokbhs for the six months ended June 30, 2011ddiitian, changes in our estimated
average life of durable virtual goods during therabnths ended June 30, 2012 for various game#tedsn an increase in revenue of $21.6
million in that period, which is the result of adfing the remaining recognition period of deferredenue generated in prior periods at the time
of the change in estimate. For the same periokdrptior year, changes in our estimated averag®fifiurable virtual goods resulted in an
increase in revenue of $27.3 million.

Advertising revenue increased $41.0 million in $hemonths ended June 30, 2012, due to a $34.®milicrease in igame display ad
a $7.5 million increase in licensing revenue, a$d & million increase in in-game sponsorship rexgmffset by a decrease of $8.5 million in
in-game offers, engagement ads and other advertisirenue.

Cost of revenue

Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 94,84 $ 78,07¢ 21% $ 184,96 $ 145,73t 27%

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

Cost of revenue increased $16.8 million in the sdaguarter of 2012 as compared to the same pefitie grior year. The increase was
primarily attributable to an increase of $10.9 millin depreciation and amortization expense rdltdenew fixed assets acquired to suppori
network infrastructure and acquired intangiblesiranease of $7.8 million in thirgarty payment processing fees, an increase ofr2lién in
consulting costs primarily related to third-partystomer support required as a result of highergulagtivity and an increase of $2.6 million in
stock-based expense mainly due to expense recagfuz&SUs, as prior to our December 2011 initiablic offering, the criteria for
recognition of these expenses had not been meseTihereases in costs of revenue were partialgebffy a decrease of $6.7 million in
maintenance and hosting costs in the second quHr#12 as compared to the same period of the peiar.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddanded June 30, 2011

Cost of revenue increased $39.2 million in thensonths ended June 30, 2012 as compared to thepsanod of the prior year. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increas®18.0 million in depreciation and amortizatiotpense related to new fixed assets acquired
to support our network infrastructure and acquirgangibles, an increase of $16.6 million in thparty payment processing fees, an increa
$6.0 million in consulting costs primarily relatamthird-party customer support required as a tesfilligher player activity and an increase of
$8.9 million in stock-based expense mainly duexfease recognized for ZSUs, as prior to our Decerd®#1 initial public offering, the
criteria for recognition of these expenses hacbeen met. These increases in costs of revenuepaetially offset by a decrease of $9.6 mill
in maintenance and hosting costs in the six moatioed June 30, 2012 as compared to the same pétioel prior year.

Research and development

Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Research and developmer $ 171,31¢ $ 95,747 79% $ 358,19: $ 167,50° 114%

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

Research and development expenses increased $illioé in the second quarter of 2012 as compareitiéosame period of the prior
year. The increase was primarily attributable $58.6 million increase in sto-based expenses, mainly due to the expense reeabfur
ZSUs, an increase of $16.9 million in headcourdtesl expenses, an increase of $4.2 million in dtinguwcosts and an increase of $3.1 million
in facilities and other overhead support cost&aoh case as compared to the same period of threyper.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddanded June 30, 2011

Research and development expenses increased $aiiior in the six months ended June 30, 2012 aspared to the same period of
prior year. The increase was primarily attributable $120.3 million increase in stock-based expgnsainly due to the expense recognized
for ZSUs, an increase of $51.6 million in headceatated expenses, an increase of $9.5 milliomailifies and other overhead support costs
and an increase of $7.7 million in consulting costeach case as compared to the same perioé @fithr year.

Sales and marketing

Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Sales and marketing $ 56,058 $ 38,09¢ 47% $ 112,89: $ 78,25¢ 44%

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

Sales and marketing expenses increased $18.0miiflithe second quarter of 2012 as compared teghe period of the prior year. The
increase was primarily attributable to a $7.7 millincrease in player acquisition costs, a $6.8aniincrease in stock-based expenses, mainly
due to the expense recognized for ZSUs, in eachassompared to the same period of the prior year.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddinded June 30, 2011

Sales and marketing expenses increased $34.6 miflithe six months ended June 30, 2012 as compatbe same period of the prior
year. The increase was primarily attributable £1@.4 million increase in sto-based expenses, mainly due to the expense reeabitiz
ZSUs, a $11.3 million increase in player acquisittosts and an increase in headcount-related egp@fi$3.3 million, in each case as
compared to the same period of the prior year.

General and administrative

Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
General and administrative $ 48,73( $ 54,21¢ (10%) $ 121,44* $ 81,32¢ 49%

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

General and administrative expenses decreasedvillicn in the second quarter of 2012 as compaeettié same period of the prior ye
The decrease was primarily attributable to a desgr@® $12.0 million in employee sign-on and borjzease as well as a $3.1 million decrease
in allocated facilities and other overhead supposts. These decreases in general and administetpenses were partially offset by a $3.7
million increase in depreciation and amortizatiapense and a $2.2 million increase in stock-bagpdrese.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddanded June 30, 2011

General and administrative expenses increased $4illidn in the six months ended June 30, 2012aspared to the same period of the
prior year. The increase was primarily attributaiolan increase of $35.9 million in stock-basedesge, including the expense recognized for
ZSUs, as well as $13.1 million in stock-based esparcognized for one million shares of Class Amam stock that we donated in March
2012 to Zynga.org. The increase in general and midtrative expenses was also due in part to ani$8lion increase in depreciation and
amortization, a $4.7 million increase in office erges and a $4.4 million increase in consultingeegp, which was offset by a decrease of
$10.3 million in allocated facilities and other olvead costs.
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Other income (expense), net

Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Other income (expense), ne $ 21,25( $ 20C NM $ 20,10¢ $ (536) N/M

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

Other income (expense), net increased $21.1 milfidghe second quarter of 2012 as compared toaime period of the prior year. The
increase was primarily attributable to the $19.9iom net gain recognized on the termination ofleand purchase of building, net.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddinded June 30, 2011

Other income (expense), net increased $20.6 milfidhe six months ended June 30,2012 as compaurthe tsame period of the prior
year. The increase was primarily attributable #®$t9.9 million net gain recognized on the ternaradf lease and purchase of building, |

Provision for income taxes

Three Months Ended June 30 Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011 % Change 2012 2011 % Change
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $ (6,69 $ (12,25)) (45%) $ (6,618 $ (31,48) (79%)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to TMoeehs Ended June 30, 2011

The provision for income taxes decreased by $5lEmin the second quarter of 2012 as comparatiecssame period of the prior year.
This decrease was attributable in part to a deerigagre-tax income of $29.8 million in the secapdrter of 2012, in addition to acquisitions
and costs of implementing our international streetlncome tax expense for the second quarter bf ¥as also impacted by non-deductible
stock-based expense and the costs of implementingernational structure.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2012 Compared to Sixiddinded June 30, 2011

The provision for income taxes decreased by $24llBbmin the six months ended June 30, 2012 aspared to the same period of the
prior year. This decrease was attributable to asdse in pre-tax income of $151.2 million for theraonths ended June 30, 2012 as compared
to the same period of the prior year, in additomtquisitions and costs of implementing our irsiomal structure. The income tax expense
the six months ended June 30, 2011 was impactesindeductible stock-based expense and the costgpt#menting our international
structure.

For the foreseeable future, our effective tax watebe impacted by additional tax expense assediatith the implementation of our
international tax structure, and the deductibitifystock-based expense. As the implementation ofrternational tax structure is completed,
we anticipate that our effective tax rate will bever than the U.S. statutory rate.
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Liquidity and Capital Resource

Six Months Ended June 30
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Acquisition of property and equipme $ 311,61 $(124,71Y
Depreciation and amortizatic 68,60¢ 41,21
Cash flows provided by operating activit $ 145,84: $177,71¢
Cash flows used in investing activiti (1,384,041 (36,02
Cash flows provided by financing activiti 91,92¢ 205,75¢

As of June 30, 2012, we had cash, cash equivaectsnarketable securities of approximately $1.kobil which consisted of cash,
money market funds, U.S. government and governiagericy debt securities, corporate debt securitidsyaunicipal securities. For the full
year ended December 31, 2012, we expect to mak&akceppenditures of up to $380 million, which indes the purchase and build out of
corporate headquarters as well as additional invests in network infrastructure to support our exge growth and to continue to improve
player experience. We believe that our existindicaash equivalents and marketable securitiesthegaith cash generated from operations,
will be sufficient to fund our operations and cap#xpenditures for at least the next 12 months.

Operating Activities

Operating activities provided $145.8 million of baturing the six months ended June 30, 2012, piiyrdniven by our net loss of $108.2
million in the six months ended June 30, 2011, stéjdi to exclude non-cash items. Significant nom-d&sns included stock-based expense of
$229.3 million and depreciation and amortizatioi$68.6 million. Stock-based expense was composathply of employee ZSU and stock
option expense and increased by $181.7 millioménsix months ended June 30, 2012 as compared gathe period of the prior year due to
expense incurred related to ZSUs. We did not iZ&ld-related expenses during the six months endeel 30, 2011 because the liquidity
event-based vesting criteria was not satisfied onti initial public offering in December 2011. Drepiation and amortization increased as
compared to the six months ended June 30, 201temul of our continued investment in property angdipment, including the purchase of
our corporate headquarters building, and businegsisitions.

Investing Activities

Investing activities resulted in a cash outflow$af4 billion during six months ended June 30, 20t primary uses of cash associated
with investing activities were $1.2 billion for tlpeirchase of marketable securities, as we contitméd/est the proceeds received from our
initial public offering; $233.7 million for the pahase of our corporate headquarters building; 4822 million net of cash acquired, for the
acquisition of 100% of the outstanding common stwic®MGPOP, Inc. Excluding the purchase of our oospe headquarters building, capital
expenditures were $77.9 million for the six morghsled June 30, 2012, which mainly related to thrticoed investment in our data centers
and other hardware and software to support our grovhese uses of cash were partially offset bysttie and maturity of $354.2 million of
marketable securities.

Financing Activities

For the six months ended June 30, 2012, our priffi@aycing activity was $99.8 million in proceedsrh a term loan, net of issuance
costs, entered into on June 29, 2012. We also &std @utflows for tax payments made in connectiah thie vesting of stock awards and cash
received from the exercise of employee stock optitmthe six months ended 2011, we issued 34l&miBhares of Series C preferred stock
for net proceeds of $485.3 million. In addition, m@urchased 23.7 million shares of our outstandamital stock for a total purchase price of
$281.3 million during the six months ended June28d,1.

Credit Facility

In July 2011, we executed a revolving credit agreetmvith certain lenders to borrow up to $1.0 biilin revolving loans. The interest
rate for the credit facility is determined basedadiormula using certain market rates. As of JUhe2812, we had not drawn down any amo
on the credit facility.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangemethiei second quarter of 2012 or in any prior period
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Lease Obligations

We have entered into operating leases for fagliiecluding data center space. As of June 30, 20tiZre minimum lease payments
related to these leases are as follows (in thossamudited):

Year ending December 3

2012 $ 16,32¢
2013 33,07t
2014 32,94¢
2015 30,19¢
2016 and thereafte 85,24

We do not have any material capital lease obligatiand all of our property, equipment and softwe® been purchased with cash.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make egtisiand assumptions that af
the reported amounts in our consolidated finarstetlements and related notes. Our significant atoaypolicies are described in Note 1 to
our consolidated financial statements includedungreviously-filed Annual Report. We have idem@fibelow our critical accounting policies
and estimates that we believe require the greatestint of judgment. These estimates and judgmeis & significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements. Actual resuitda differ materially from those estimates. Theamting policies that reflect our more
significant estimates and judgments and that wiewxekre the most critical to fully understand amdluate our reported financial results
include the following:

* Revenue recognitio

* Income taxe!

» Business combinatior

» Stoclk-based expens

» Goodwill and indefinit-lived intangible assets (please see further detailsw)
» Impairment of lon-lived assets (please see further details be
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Please refer to “Management’s Discussion and AmabfsFinancial Condition and Results of Operatiactntained in Part 11, Item 7 of
our Annual Report on Form 1K<or our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 forasie complete discussion of our critical accounfinlicies
and estimates. In addition, we made the followipdaites to our critical accounting policies.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets aegried at cost and are evaluated annually foaimpent, or more frequently if
circumstances exist that indicate that impairmeay mexist. Goodwill is assessed for impairment alipaa when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the fair value has lbeéuced below carrying value. When conductingasurual goodwill impairment assessment,
we initially perform a qualitative evaluation of ether it is more likely than not that goodwill impaired in order to determine the need to
perform the two-step impairment test. If we detemriby a qualitative evaluation that it is more Ikéhan not that goodwill is impaired, we
conduct a quantitative assessment of impairmentiwtgquires us to estimate future cash flows. Rexahility of indefinite-lived intangible
assets is measured by comparison of the carryirgganof the asset to its fair value. If the assetansidered to be impaired, the amount of
impairment is measured as the difference betweekdlrying value and the fair value of the impaiaedet.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including other intangible asgekcluding indefinite-lived intangible assetsk eeviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate at'asserying value may not be recoverable. If saoithumstances are present, we assess the
recoverability of the londived assets by comparing the carrying value tautigiscounted future cash flows associated withréketed assets.
the future net undiscounted cash flows are less tte carrying value of the assets, the assetsoa@dered impaired and an expense, equal to
the amount required to reduce the carrying valub@fssets to the estimated fair value, is recbirdéhe consolidated statements of operat
Significant judgment is required to estimate theant and timing of future cash flows and the reghatiisk of achieving those cash flows.

Assumptions and estimates about future values@mdining useful lives are complex and often subjecThey can be affected by a
variety of factors, including external factors sachindustry and economic trends, and internabfactuch as changes in our business strategy
and our internal forecasts. For example, if ounfetoperating results do not meet current forecasitswe experience a decline in our market
capitalization, we may be required to record fuimrpairment charges for goodwill and/or acquire@mngible assets. Impairment charges could
materially decrease our future net income and réaslbwer asset values on our balance sheet.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnpuncements and the impact of these pronouncememnur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 — “Overview and SummarygrfifRant Accounting Policies” in the notes to tbensolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on FaG¥Q.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABO UT MARKET RISK

During the six months ended June 30, 2012, there we significant changes to our quantitative analitptive disclosures about market
risk. Please refer to Part I, Item 7A. Quantitatand Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk um#d in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 foaencomplete discussion on the market risks we w@meo.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleeécutive officer and chief financial officer, évated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the ettiegberiod covered by this Quarterly Report. Térent“disclosure controls and procedures,”
as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) udeEkchange Act, means controls and other procediire company that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed lopmpany in the reports that it files or submaitder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the pien@ds specified in the Securities and Exchangmi@ission (the “SEC”) rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, withionitation, controls and procedures designed &ues that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it fdlesubmits under the Exchange Act is accumulatedcammunicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive aridgipal financial officers, as appropriate to alltimely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disemsontrols and procedures as of June 30, 201Zloef executive officer and chief financial
officer concluded that, as of such date, our d&ale controls and procedures were effective atdhsonable assurance level.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

There were no changes in our internal control dwmancial reporting identified in management’s exslon pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d)
or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the quastedted June 30, 2012 that materially affectedr@reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedres

In designing and evaluating the disclosure contal$ procedures, management recognizes that atrplsoand procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide ordgarable assurance of achieving the desired catijettives. In addition, the design of
disclosure controls and procedures must reflecfatiethat there are resource constraints anchthatgement is required to apply judgment in
evaluating the benefits of possible controls armtedures relative to their costs.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a description of our material legal proceedirsge Note 12 — “Commitments and Contingenciesh@Notes to the consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in thisré@udg Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We have identified the following risks and uncerties that may have a material adverse effect arbasiness, financial condition or
results of operations. The risks described belogvrast the only ones we face. Additional risks mesently known to us or that we currently
believe are not material may also significantly airpur business operations. Our business coultidrened by any of these risks. The trading
price of our common stock could decline due to@frthese risks, and you may lose all or part ofryinuestment. In assessing these risks,
should also refer to the other information containe this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, includiogr condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes.

We have marked with an asterisk (*) those risksidesd below that reflect substantive changes fronadditions to, the risks described
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year esh@ecember 31, 2011.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
If we are unable to maintain a good relationship tiviFacebook, our business will suffer

Facebook is the primary distribution, marketingyrpotion and payment platform for our games. We gresubstantially all of our
revenue and players through the Facebook platfoireapect to continue to do so for the foreseefaitize. Any deterioration in our
relationship with Facebook would harm our busirerss adversely affect our operating results and/éthée of our Class A common stock.

We are subject to Facebook’s standard terms arditamms for application developers, which govera gromotion, distribution and
operation of games and other applications on tlelb@ok platform, and which are subject to changEdmebook from time to time. We have
entered into an addendum to these terms and conslitiursuant to which we have agreed to use Fakdbealits, Facebook’s proprietary
payment method, as the primary means of paymehtmdtur games played through Facebook. This addarekpires in May 2015. In June
2012, Facebook announced its plans to discontimei@se of Facebook Credits and instead supporhgric local currencies. We expect to
transition away from Facebook Credits and to a@i@gaebook’s local currency-based payments modetdend of 2012, but we cannot assure
you that these changes will not have a negativaaingn our operating results in the futt

Our business would be harmed if:
» Facebook discontinues or limits access to its platfby us and other game develop

» Facebook terminates or does not renew or replacadiendum

» Facebook modifies its terms of service or otheigms, including fees charged to, or other restic on, us, other application
developers, or Facebook changes how the persdoatiation of its users is made available to appilicadevelopers on the
Facebook platform or shared by usi

» Facebook establishes more favorable relationshigrsome or more of our competitors;
» Facebook develops its own competitive offerir
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We have benefited from Facebook’s strong brandgeition and large user base. If Facebook losesdtket position or otherwise falls
out of favor with Internet users, we would needdtentify alternative channels for marketing, promgtand distributing our games, which
would consume substantial resources and may nefféetive. As noted above, Facebook has broadetiserto change its terms of service .
other policies with respect to us and other devatepand those changes may be unfavorable to uexBmple, Facebook’s prior policy
requiring that applications on Facebook accept @slyirtual currency, Facebook Credits, as paynfiemh users, which was adopted in 2010
and we completed in April 2011, provided Faceboditk & greater share of payments made by our plagarsit did when other payment
options were allowed. Facebook recently annountsgpléns to discontinue use of Facebook Creditself@ok may also change its fee
structure, add fees associated with access tosmdfuhe Facebook platform, change how the petsoisamation of its users is made
available to application developers on the Facelpdatform or restrict how Facebook users can shdoemation with friends on their
platform. Beginning in early 2010, Facebook chanigegolicies for application developers regardirsg of its communication channels. These
changes limited the level of communication amorgysigbout applications on the Facebook platforma Assult, the number of our players on
Facebook declined. Our current agreement with Faaehllows our users to use Zynga-branded games ¢dardhe redemption of Facebook
Credits and allows us to continue to distribute game cards for a limited time. We are working Witicebook to transition retailers from our
gift card program to Facebook’s gift cards. We expleis transition to occur over time and to be pteted in the fourth quarter of 2012. Our
future bookings and revenue may be negatively ingohduring this transition period and upon the etjn of our game card program. Any
such changes in the future could significantlyrdfiew players experience our games or interactimvithr games, which may harm our
business.

We operate in a new and rapidly changing industwhich makes it difficult to evaluate our business@prospects.

The social game industry, through which we derivlessantially all of our revenue, is a new and rp&bolving industry. The growth of
the social game industry and the level of demamtinaarket acceptance of our games are subjectighadegree of uncertainty. Our future
operating results will depend on numerous factffecting the social game industry, many of whick beyond our control, including:

» continued worldwide growth in the adoption and asBacebook and other social netwot

» changes in consumer demographics and public tastepreference:

» the availability and popularity of other forms oftertainment

» the worldwide growth of personal computer, broadbbnternet and mobile device users, and the ragapfsuch growth; ar
» general economic conditions, particularly econocuinditions adversely affecting discretionary consuspending

Our ability to plan for game development, distribotand promotional activities will be significaythffected by our ability to anticipate
and adapt to relatively rapid changes in the temtelspreferences of our current and potential ptaydew and different types of entertainment
may increase in popularity at the expense of sgazaies. A decline in the popularity of social gafmegeneral, or our games in particular
would harm our business and prospects.

We have a new business model and a short operatiistpry, which makes it difficult to evaluate ourpspects and future financial results
and may increase the risk that we will not be sussfeil.

We began operations in April 2007, and we haveoat sfperating history and a new business modelchviiakes it difficult to effective
assess our future prospects. Our business moblasesl on offering games that are free to play.dfe,dnly a small portion of our players pay
for virtual goods.

We rely on a small portion of our total players foearly all of our revenue.*

Compared to all players who play our games in ampogd, only a small portion are paying players. iBgithe three months ended
June 30, 2012, we had approximately 4.1 million MW&xcluding payers who use certain payment metfaydghich unique payer data is not
available), which represents approximately two eetof our players. We lose players in the ordir@ayrse of business. In order to sustain our
revenue levels, we must attract, retain and ineréias number of players or more effectively moreetir players. To retain players, we must
devote significant resources so that the gamesplagyretain their interest and attract them toathier games. If we fail to grow or sustain the
number of our players, or if the rates at whichatteact and retain players declines or if the ayer@mount our players pay declines, our
business may not grow and our financial results suiffer.

Our growth prospects may suffer if the Zynga platfio is unsuccessful.*

We launched the Zynga platform in March 2012. Quilitg to increase our player base and revenuedsflend, in part, on the successful
operation of the Zynga platform. If the Zynga path fails to engage players, interest third-pagyng developers or attract advertisers, we
may fail to generate sufficient revenue, operatiraggin or other value to justify our investmenthie development and operation of the Zynga
platform. We have very limited experience launchinigd-party developed games on the
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Zynga platform, and supporting games developedhiogl parties. We may encounter technical and ofmeralt challenges operating a platform.
In addition, although the Zynga platform is integchwith Facebook and uses Facebook Credits amtligpayment method for purchasing
virtual goods, our launch and promotion of the Zypdatform could harm our relationship with Facdhdbwe are not successful with the
overall monetization of the Zynga platform, we nmey be able to maintain or grow our revenue asiatied and our financial results could
adversely affected.

We expect our bookings and revenue growth rate éclthe over time and anticipate operating margingyndecline in the future.

From 2010 to 2011, our revenue grew from $597.%ionito $1.14 billion, which represents an annualgh rate of approximately 91%.
We expect that as our bookings and revenue incréasgrowth rate in bookings and revenue will giecbver time. We believe our operating
margin will also experience downward pressure gsalt of increasing competition and the needroréased operating expenditures for many
aspects of our business. Further, we believe tiggiticreased stock-based expense associated wttduwestricted stock units, or ZSUs, which
we had not recognized prior to our initial publifeoing, will also exert downward pressure on opexating margin. We expect to continue to
expend substantial financial and other resourcegaome development, international expansion andetwork infrastructure.

A small number of games have generated a majoritpor revenue, and we must continue to launch anthance games that attract ar
retain a significant number of players in order fgrow our revenue and sustain our competitive pamsiti

Historically we have depended on a small numbeyapfies for a majority of our revenue and we exgettthis dependency will contin
for the foreseeable future. Our growth dependsurability to consistently launch new games thdiee significant popularity. Each of our
games requires significant engineering, marketimdy@her resources to develop, launch and susiairegular upgrades and expansions, and
such costs have increased on average. Our ahlilgydcessfully launch, sustain and expand gameattnadt and retain players largely will
depend on our ability to:

» anticipate and effectively respond to changing galager interests and preferenc
» anticipate or respond to changes in the competitindscape
e attract, retain and motivate talented game dessgpeoduct managers and engine
» develop, sustain and expand games that are fuanesting and compelling to pla
» effectively market new games and enhancementsrte)asting players and new playe
* minimizelaunch delays and cost overruns on new games and gapansion:
* minimize downtime and other technical difficultiesid
» acquire high quality assets, personnel and comp:
It is difficult to consistently anticipate playeerhand on a large scale, particularly as we devgdmpes in new genres or new markets,

including international markets and mobile platferif we do not successfully launch games thaaetttand retain a significant number of
players and extend the life of our existing ganoes,market share, reputation and financial reswilibe harmed.

If our top games do not maintain their popularitpur results of operations could be harme

In addition to creating new games that are attradt a significant number of players, we must edtthe life of our existing games, in
particular our most successful games. For a gamentain popular, we must constantly enhance, expanggrade the game with new featt
that players find attractive. Such constant enhawece requires the investment of significant resesiyparticularly with older games and such
costs have increased on average. We may not becafiliecessfully enhance, expand or upgrade overugames. Any reduction in the
number of players of our most popular games, acyedese in the popularity of our games or socialggmm general, any breach of game-
related security or prolonged server interrupteomy loss of rights to any intellectual property arging such games, or any other adverse
developments relating to our most popular gamedddearm our results of operations.
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Our growth prospects will suffer if we are unable tontinue to develop successful games for mobisfprms or successfully monetize
mobile games we develop or acquire.*

Developing games for mobile platforms is an impatrtomponent of our strategy. We have devoted améxpect to continue to devote
substantial resources to the development of ouiilenghmes, and we cannot guarantee that we wilitwoa to develop games that appeal to
players or advertisers. In addition, we may enceudifficulty in integrating features on games deped for mobile platforms that a sufficient
number of players will pay for or otherwise suféiotly monetize mobile games. Generally, our mopilmnes monetize at a lower rate than our
web-based games and we may not be successful effouts to increase our monetization from mob#engs. If we are unable to implement
successful monetization strategies for our mokalees, our ability to grow revenue and our finangeadformance will be negatively affected.

Our ability to successfully develop games for melplatforms will depend on our ability to:
» anticipate and effectively respond to the changidile landscape and the interests of players duileplatforms;

« attract, retain and motivate talented game desigpeoduct managers and engineers who have experitveloping games f
mobile platforms

e expand on our current mobile gam

» effectively market new mobile games to our existivef-based players and players of our current mobileegs
* minimize launch delays and cost overruns on theldgwment of new games; a

» acquire and successfully integrate high quality heofp|ame assets, personnel or compal

These and other uncertainties make it difficukknow whether we will succeed in continuing to deypesuccessful mobile games. If we
do not succeed in doing so, our growth prospedtssufifer.

Any failure or significant interruption in our netvork could impact our operations and harm our busise

Our technology infrastructure is critical to thefpemance of our games and to player satisfactiur.games run on a complex
distributed system, or what is commonly known asidlcomputing. We own, operate and maintain thmamy elements of this system, but
some elements of this system are operated by pliries that we do not control and which would fegjgignificant time to replace. We have
experienced, and may in the future experience, ieebisruptions, outages and other performancelenob due to a variety of factors,
including infrastructure changes, human or softvearers and capacity constraints. For exampleppezation ofCityVille , was interrupted for
several hours in April 2012 due to a network outdfye particular game is unavailable when playsdtempt to access it or navigation throug
game is slower than they expect, players may dtprg the game and may be less likely to returthéogame as often, if at all. A failure or
significant interruption in our game service wobklm our reputation and operations. We expect mdimoe to make significant investments to
our technology infrastructure to maintain and inyerall aspects of player experience and game pedioce. To the extent that our disaster
recovery systems are not adequate, or we do resttafély address capacity constraints, upgradespstems as needed and continually develop
our technology and network architecture to accomat®ihcreasing traffic, our business and operatisglts may suffer. We do not maintain
insurance policies covering losses relating tosystems and we do not have business interruptguramce.

Security breaches, computer viruses and computeckiag attacks could harm our business and resulfsoperations.

Security breaches, computer malware and computdiriaattacks have become more prevalent in owrstrg, have occurred on our
systems in the past and may occur on our systethe ifuture. Any security breach caused by hackirfdch involves efforts to gain
unauthorized access to information or systemsj oatise intentional malfunctions or loss or colinmpbf data, software, hardware or other
computer equipment, and the inadvertent transmmssicomputer viruses could harm our businessnfir condition and operating results.
We have experienced and will continue to experidramking attacks. Because of our prominence irstioéal game industry, we believe we
a particularly attractive target for hackers. Thioitgs difficult to determine what harm may didgatesult from any specific interruption or
breach, any failure to maintain performance, rditgbsecurity and availability of our network irdstructure to the satisfaction of our players
may harm our reputation and our ability to retaiiséng players and attract new players.

If we falil to effectively manage our growth, our kiness and operating results could be harme

We continue to experience rapid growth in our headt and operations, which will continue to plagggicant demands on our
management and our operational, financial and taolgical infrastructure. As of June 30, 2012, apprately 42% of our employees had b
with us for less than one year and approximate® 76r less than two years. As we continue to gnee must expend significant resources to
identify, hire, integrate, develop and motivataé number of qualified employees. If we fail tfeetively manage our hiring needs and
successfully integrate our new hires, our abilitgontinue launching new games and enhance exigéinges could suffer.
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To effectively manage the growth of our business @perations, we will need to continue spendingifiitant resources to improve our
technology infrastructure, our operational, finahe@nd management controls, and our reporting systnd procedures by, among other thi

* monitoring and updating our technology infrastruetto maintain high performance and minimize doinret

» enhancing information and communication systenengure that our employees and offices around thielaeoe wel-coordinatec
and can effectively communicate with each ot

» enhancing our internal controls to ensure timely accurate reporting of all of our operations;
» appropriately documenting our information technglggstems and our business proces

These enhancements and improvements will requgrefsiant capital expenditures and allocation dixahle management and employee
resources. If we fail to implement these enhancésnamd improvements effectively, our ability to raga our expected growth and comply
with the rules and regulations that are applicableublic reporting companies will be impaired alddition, if our operating costs are higher
than we expect or if we do not maintain adequategrobof our costs and expenses, our operatingtsesill suffer.

Our core values of focusing on our players first dracting for the long term may conflict with the sht-term interests of our business.

One of our core values is to focus on surprising) @elighting our players, which we believe is esis¢io our success and serves the t
long-term interests of Zynga and our stakeholdEnsrefore, we have made in the past and we may imake future, significant investments
or changes in strategy that we think will benefit players, even if our decision negatively impamnis operating results in the short term. For
example, in late 2009 and in 2010 we reduced inegadvertising offers in order to improve playerexgnce. This decrease in in-game offers
led to a reduction of advertising revenue in 204 @@mpared to 2009. Our decisions may not restiftariong-term benefits that we expect, in
which case the success of our games, businessp@natiog results could be harmed.

If we lose the services of our founder and Chiefé&butive Officer or other members of our senior magement team, we may not be able
execute our business strategy.*

Our success depends in a large part upon the ceatiservice of our senior management team. Inqodetti, our founder, Chief Executive
Officer, Mark Pincus, is critical to our visionyategic direction, culture, products and technoldffe do not maintain key-man insurance for
Mr. Pincus or any other member of our senior mameage team. The loss of our founder and Chief Exeeudfficer, even temporarily, or any
other member of senior management would harm osinbas.

If we are unable to attract and retain highly qudiied employees, we may not be able to grow effebti

Our ability to compete and grow depends in large gathe efforts and talents of our employeeshSroployees, particularly game
designers, product managers and engineers, arghidbamand, and we devote significant resourcésetatifying, hiring, training, successfully
integrating and retaining these employees. We hasterically hired a number of key personnel thioagquisitions, and as competition with
other game companies for attractive target comgamith a skilled employee base increases, we may isignificant expenses in continuing
this practice. The loss of employees or the inghit hire additional skilled employees as necgssauld result in significant disruptions to ¢
business, and the integration of replacement pasaould be time-consuming and expensive and caddiéional disruptions to our business.

We believe that two critical components of our &sscand our ability to retain our best people arecalture and our competitive
compensation practices. As we continue to growdigpand we develop the infrastructure of a pubbnpany, we may find it difficult to
maintain our entrepreneurial, execution-focusetucel In addition, many of our employees may be ablreceive significant proceeds from
sales of our equity in the public markets, whichymeduce their motivation to continue to work far. Moreover, there may also be disparities
of wealth between those of our employees whom wemhprior to our initial public offering in Decemb2011 and those who joined us after
became a public company, which may harm our cubinckrelations among employees.

An increasing number of individuals are utilizingelices other than personal computers to accesdiiernet, and versions of our game
developed for these devices might not gain wideagdradoption, or may not function as intended.*

The number of individuals who access the Intedmetugh devices other than a personal computer, asismartphones, tablets,
televisions and set-top box devices, has incredsmdatically, and we believe this trend is likedycontinue. The generally lower processing
speed, power, functionality and memory associatiéll thhese devices make playing our games through davices more difficult; and the
versions of our games developed for these deviegsnot be compelling to players. In addition, edeliice
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manufacturer or platform provider may establisiqueior restrictive terms and conditions for devetspn such devices or platforms, and our
games may not work well or be viewable on theséc#svas a result. To expand our business, we ed@trio support a number of alternative
devices and technologies. Once developed, we maysehto port or convert a game into separate vessar alternative devices with different
technological requirements. As new devices and meWwile platforms or updates to platforms are cargily being released, we may encounter
problems in developing versions of our games ferars these alternative devices and we may neeeMimtel significant resources to the
creation, support, and maintenance of such dewiedplatforms. If we are unable to successfullyagxthe platforms and devices on which
our games are available, or if the versions ofgames that we create for alternative platformsdewices are not compelling to our players,
our business will suffer.

Expansion into international markets is importanbf our growth, and as we expand internationally, weéll face additional business
political, regulatory, operational, financial and@nomic risks, any of which could increase our cestnd hinder such growtr

Continuing to expand our business to attract pyrecountries other than the United States istealrelement of our business strategy.
An important part of targeting international magkist developing offerings that are localized anst@mized for the players in those markets.
We have a limited operating history as a comparigide of the United States. We expect to contiougetvote significant resources to
international expansion through acquisitions, thtaldishment of additional offices and developnguatlios, and increasing our foreign
language offerings. Our ability to expand our basiand to attract talented employees and playens increasing number of international
markets will require considerable management attersind resources and is subject to the partiaklaienges of supporting a rapidly growing
business in an environment of multiple languagebkures, customs, legal systems, alternative déespystems, regulatory systems and
commercial infrastructures. We have experiencefitdifies in the past and have not been successhll the countries we have entered.
Expanding our international focus may subject ussiks that we have not faced before or increades that we currently face, including risks
associated with:

* recruiting and retaining talented and capable mamagt and employees in foreign countr
» challenges caused by distance, language and dulitfexences
» developing and customizing games and other offerihgt appeal to the tastes and preferences oénsléty international market

» competition from local game makers with significamdrket share in those markets and with a bettdenstanding of playe
preferences

e protecting and enforcing our intellectual propeights;

* negotiating agreements with local distribution faleihs that are sufficiently economically benefidialus and protective of ol
rights;

« the inability to extend proprietary rights in ouahd, content or technology into new jurisdictic

* implementing alternative payment methods for virg@ods in a manner that complies with local lawd practices and protects us
from fraud,;

» compliance with applicable foreign laws and regale, including privacy laws and laws relating tmtent;

« compliance with an-bribery laws including without limitation, compliae with the Foreign Corrupt Practices A
» credit risk and higher levels of payment fra

» currency exchange rate fluctuatio

» protectionist laws and business practices thatrfenaal businesses in some countr

» foreign tax consequence

» foreign exchange controls or U.S. tax restrictithreg might restrict or prevent us from repatriatingome earned in countri
outside the United State

» political, economic and social instabilit

» higher costs associated with doing business intiemelly;
* export or import regulations; at

» trade and tariff restriction:

Entering new international markets will be expeasiwur ability to successfully gain market accepéaim any particular market is uncertain,
and the distraction of our senior management teautddarm our business.
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Competition within the broader entertainment indugtis intense and our existing and potential plagemay be attracted to competing forms
of entertainment such as offline and traditional ¢ine games, television, movies and sports, as aglbther entertainment options on the
Internet.*

Our players face a vast array of entertainmentag®iOther forms of entertainment, such as offlirselitional online, personal computer
and console games, television, movies, sportsymeaky gaming and the Internet, are much largemao@ well-established markets and may
be perceived by our players to offer greater vgriaffordability, interactivity and enjoyment. Theesther forms of entertainment compete for
the discretionary time and income of our playdrad are unable to sustain sufficient interestun games in comparison to other forms of
entertainment, including new forms of entertainment business model may no longer be viable.

There are low barriers to entry in the social garnmglustry, and competition is intense.*

The social game industry is highly competitive hitw barriers to entry and we expect more comgaitieenter the sector and a wider
range of social games to be introduced. Our congpstihat develop social games for social netwegeky in size and include publicly-traded
companies such as Electronic Arts Inc., DeNA Cd. ahd The Walt Disney Company and privately-helchpanies such as Crowdstar, Inc.,
Vostu, King.com and wooga GmbH. In addition, onlgane developers and distributors who are priméoitysed on specific international
markets, such as Tencent Holdings Limited in Aarad highprofile companies with significant online presentiest to date have not develoj
social games, such as Amazon.com, Facebook, Gtogland Microsoft Corporation , may decide to depesocial games. Some of these
current and potential competitors have significasburces for developing or acquiring additionahga, may be able to incorporate their own
strong brands and assets into their games, haw@eadiversified set of revenue sources than wendionaay be less severely affected by
changes in consumer preferences, regulations er dévelopments that may impact the online so@aigindustry. In addition, we have
limited experience in developing games for mobiid ather platforms and our ability to succeed aséhplatforms is uncertain. As we
continue to devote significant resources to devietpgames for those platforms, we will face sigrafit competition from established
companies, including Electronic Arts Inc., GREEehmiational, Inc., DeNA Co. Ltd., Gameloft SA, GlwMlle Inc., Disney and Rovio Mobile
Ltd. We expect new mobile-game competitors to ethiemmarket and existing competitors to allocateemesources to develop and market
competing games and applications.

The value of our virtual goods is highly dependesmt how we manage the economies in our games. Iffaleto manage our game economi
properly, our business may suffe

Paying players purchase virtual goods in our gameeause of the perceived value of these goods vididbpendent on the relative ease
of securing an equivalent good via non-paid meattimthe game. The perceived value of these Vigoads can be impacted by an increase
in the availability of free or discounted Facebdzgredits or by various actions that we take in tamgs including offering discounts for virtual
goods, giving away virtual goods in promotions mvyiding easier non-paid means to secure thesesgdiode fail to manage our virtual
economies properly, players may be less likelyuxpase virtual goods and our business may suffer.

Some of our players may make sales and/or purchaxfedrtual goods used in our games through unautimed third-party websites, which
may impede our revenue growth.

Some of our players may make sales and/or purcludises virtual goods, such @ynga Pokewirtual poker chips, through unauthorized
third-party sellers in exchange for real currenidyese unauthorized transactions are usually arcaogehird-party websites. We do not
generate any revenue from these transactions. Aicggly, these unauthorized purchases and salestfiodiparty sellers could impede our
revenue and profit growth by, among other things:

» decreasing revenue from authorized transact

» creating downward pressure on the prices we chaeyers for our virtual currency and virtual goo
» causing us to lose revenue from paying players stbp playing a particular gam

* increasing costs we incur to develop technologivahsures to curtail unauthorized transacti

» generating legal claims relating to the diminutaftvalue of our virtual goods; ar

* increasing customer support costs to respond gatidied players

To discourage unauthorized purchases and salag efrtual goods, we have stated in our terms ofise that the buying or selling of
virtual currency and virtual goods from unauthodizkird-party sellers may result in bans from oamgs and/or legal action. We have banned
players as a result of such activities. We have @éveloped technological measures to help detexithorized transactions. If we decide to
implement further restrictions on players’ abilitytransfer virtual goods, we may lose players,citdould harm our financial condition and
results of operations.

The proliferation of “cheating” programs and scamffers that seek to exploit our games and playerfeafs the game-playing experience
and may lead players to stop playing our games.
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Unrelated third parties have developed, and mayirno® to develop, “cheating” programs that enaltdegrs to exploit our games, play
them in an automated way or obtain unfair advargayer other players who do play fairly. These progs harm the experience of players
who play fairly and may disrupt the virtual econoofyour games. In addition, unrelated third parditempt to scam our players with fake
offers for virtual goods. We devote significantoesces to discover and disable these programsdcivitias, and if we are unable to do so
quickly our operations may be disrupted, our refiatadamaged and players may stop playing our gafiés may lead to lost revenue from
paying players, increased cost of developing teldyical measures to combat these programs andtagjegal claims relating to the
diminution in value of our virtual currency and gisp and increased customer service costs neededond to dissatisfied players.

Our quarterly operating results are volatile andfficult to predict, and our stock price may decliriewe fail to meet the expectations of
securities analysts or investors

Our bookings, revenue, traffic and operating rescdtuld vary significantly from quarter-to-quaréerd year-toyear and may fail to mat
our past performance or the expectations of séesi@nalysts or investors because of a varietaabfs, some of which are outside of our
control. Any of these events could cause the makee of our Class A common stock to fluctuatectBes that may contribute to the
variability of our operating results include thekrifactors listed in these “Risk Factors” and thetdrs discussed in the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations — Factors AffgcOur Performance.”

In particular, we recognize revenue from sale ofwdual goods in accordance with U.S. GAAP, whisttomplex and based on our
assumptions and historical data with respect tes#he and use of various types of virtual goodshénevent that such assumptions are revised
based on new data or there are changes in theib@tmix of virtual goods sold due to new gameadductions, reduced virtual good sales in
existing games or other factors or there are chamgeur estimates of average playing periodsatheunt of revenue that we recognize in any
particular period may fluctuate significantly. Farther information regarding our revenue recogmitpolicy, see the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations — Critical Ageting Policies — Revenue
Recognition” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K fbe year ended December 31, 2011.

Given our short operating history and the rapidigleing social game industry, our historical opargtresults may not be useful in
predicting our future operating results. In additimetrics we have developed or those availabla third parties regarding our industry and
the performance of our games, including DAUs, MAM$JUs, MUPs and ABPU may not be indicative of omahcial performance.

Failure to protect or enforce our intellectual pragty rights or the costs involved in such enforcemeould harm our business and
operating results.

We regard the protection of our trade secrets, Ggpts, trademarks, trade dress, domain names thied product rights as critical to our
success. We strive to protect our intellectual proprights by relying on federal, state and comramrights, as well as contractual
restrictions. We enter into confidentiality andéméion assignment agreements with our employeesamtactors and confidentiality
agreements with parties with whom we conduct bissime order to limit access to, and disclosurews®lof, our proprietary information.
However, these contractual arrangements and tlee stbps we have taken to protect our intellegit@perty may not prevent the
misappropriation of our proprietary informationdeter independent development of similar technel®gly others.

We pursue the registration of our domain namedetraarks, and service marks in the United Statesraoekrtain locations outside the
United States. We are seeking to protect our tradiesn patents and domain names in an increasindgeuaf jurisdictions, a process that is
expensive and time-consuming and may not be sucatessvhich we may not pursue in every locatione Wiay, over time, increase our
investment in protecting our innovations througtré@ased patent filings that are expensive and tomsuming and may not result in issued
patents that can be effectively enforced. The Le&imth America Invents Act (“the Leahy-Smith Actijas adopted in September 2011. The
Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significanéiees to United States patent law, including promisthat affect the way patent
applications will be prosecuted and may also affetent litigation. The United States Patent arad@mark Office is currently developing
regulations and procedures to govern administraifdhe Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantkianges to patent law associated with
the Leahy-Smith Act will not become effective untp to 18 months after its enactment. Accordinglis not clear what, if any, impact the
Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of oursmess. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its irm@etation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecofi@ur patent applications and the enforcemenlefense of our issued patents, all of which
could harm our business.

Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intéllacproperty rights, protect our trade secretdatermine the validity and scope of
proprietary rights claimed by others. Any litigatiof this nature, regardless of outcome or meoitla result in substantial costs, adverse
publicity or diversion of management and technieaburces, any of which could adversely affecttuginess and operating results. If we fail
to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectuaperty rights, our business and operating resoi#tg be harmed.
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We are, and may in the future be, subject to inéelfual property disputes, which are costly to defeand could require us to pay significant
damages and could limit our ability to use certaiechnologies in the future.

From time to time, we have faced, and we expefdde in the future, allegations that we have ingfeid the trademarks, copyrights,
patents and other intellectual property rightshaftk parties, including from our competitors, npracticing entities and former employers of
personnel. Patent and other intellectual propéigation may be protracted and expensive, anddhelts are difficult to predict. As the result
of any court judgment or settlement we may be altdig to cancel the launch of a new game, stopinffer game or certain features of a game,
pay royalties or significant settlement costs, hase licenses or modify our games and featuregewldldevelop substitutes.

In addition, we use open source software in ourggand expect to continue to use open source gefiwshe future. From time to time,
we may face claims from companies that incorpasaten source software into their products, clainingership of, or demanding release of,
the source code, the open source software andfimatiee works that were developed using such saféyor otherwise seeking to enforce the
terms of the applicable open source license. Thledéms could also result in litigation, requiretapurchase a costly license or require us to
devote additional research and development resstiooghange our games, any of which would havegatie effect on our business and
operating results.

Although we do not believe that the final outconfiditiggation and claims that we currently face withve a material adverse effect on our
business, our expectations may not prove to becbrEven if these matters do not result in lifigabr are resolved in our favor or without
significant cash settlements, these matters, amtirtte and resources necessary to litigate orvegbkem, could harm our business, operating
results, financial condition, reputation or the kaprice of our Class A common stock.

Programming errors or flaws in our games could haraur reputation or decrease market acceptance of games, which would harm ou
operating results.

Our games may contain errors, bugs, flaws or ceerlgata, and these defects may only become apg@dtentheir launch, particularly
as we launch new games and rapidly release newrésatio existing games under tight time constraivs believe that if our players have a
negative experience with our games, they may keitetined to continue or resume playing our gaoragcommend our games to other
potential players. Undetected programming errcasegdefects and data corruption can disrupt ouratipas, adversely affect the game
experience of our players by allowing players tmgenfair advantage, harm our reputation, causetayers to stop playing our games, divert
our resources and delay market acceptance of osegaany of which could result in legal liability as or harm our operating results.

Evolving regulations, industry standards and pramgis by platform providers concerning data privacyutd prevent us from providing ou
current games to our players, or require us to miydbur games, thereby harming our business*.

The regulatory framework for privacy issues worldevis currently in flux and is likely to remain fw the foreseeable future. Practices
regarding the collection, use, storage, transmisaial security of personal information by compawoigsrating over the Internet and mobile
platforms have recently come under increased psbligtiny, and civil claims alleging liability fahe breach of data privacy have been ass
against us. The U.S. government, including the Fédaade Commission and the Department of Commé@e announced that it is review
the need for greater regulation for the collectbinformation concerning consumer behavior onltiiernet, including regulation aimed at
restricting certain targeted advertising practitesddition, the European Union is in the proagfgsroposing reforms to its existing data
protection legal framework, which may result inragfer compliance burden for companies with useEurope. Various government and
consumer agencies have also called for new regulatid changes in industry practices.

We began operations in 2007 and have grown rapidhile our administrative systems have developeditg, during our earlier history
our practices relating to intellectual propertytadarivacy and security, and legal compliance mayhawve been as robust as they are now, and
there may be unasserted claims arising from thiegé¢hat we are not able to anticipate. In additiour business, including our ability to
operate and expand internationally, could be aéleedfected if laws or regulations are adoptetkripreted, or implemented in a manner that
is inconsistent with our current business practaras that require changes to these practices gsigrdof our website, games, features or our
privacy policy. In particular, the success of ousibess has been, and we expect will continue tdrieen by our ability to responsibly use the
data that our players share with us. Thereforepasiess could be harmed by any significant chémggplicable laws, regulations or indus
practices or the requirements of platform providegarding the use or disclosure of data our ptaghoose to share with us, or regarding the
manner in which the express or implied consenbokamers for such use and disclosure is obtaineth &hanges may require us to modify
our games features and advertising practices, ligseia material manner, and may limit our abilitbyuse the data that our players share with
us.

We process, store and use personal information atider data, which subjects us to governmental reggidn and other legal obligations
related to privacy, and our actual or perceivedltae to comply with such obligations could harm obusiness.

We receive, store and process personal informatiahother player data, and we enable our playeskare their personal information
with each other and with third parties, includingtbe Internet and mobile platforms. There are moneefederal, state and local laws around
the world regarding privacy and the storing, sk@rirse, processing, disclosure and protection kdfgmal information and other player data on
the Internet and mobile platforms, the scope ofctldre changing, subject to differing
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interpretations, and may be inconsistent betweentci@s or conflict with other rules. We generaltymply with industry standards and are
subject to the terms of our own privacy policied anivacy-related obligations to third parties (irding voluntary third-party certification
bodies such as TRUSTe). We strive to comply witlaaplicable laws, policies, legal obligations ardtain industry codes of conduct relating
to privacy and data protection, to the extent reably attainable. However, it is possible that ¢hekligations may be interpreted and applie
a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdictmanother and may conflict with other rules or practices. Any failure or perceived failure
by us to comply with our privacy policies, our @oy-related obligations to players or other thiagties, or our privacy-related legal
obligations, or any compromise of security thatissin the unauthorized release or transfer ofqeally identifiable information or other
player data, may result in governmental enforceraetibns, litigation or public statements agairssby consumer advocacy groups or others
and could cause our players to lose trust in uglwtould have an adverse effect on our businedditianally, if third parties we work with,
such as players, vendors or developers, violatécayte laws or our policies, such violations mégogput our players’ information at risk and
could in turn have an adverse effect on our busines

In the area of information security and data pridd@¢ many states have passed laws requiring natiin to players when there is a
security breach for personal data, such as the a6@hdment to California’s Information Practices,Ae requiring the adoption of minimum
information security standards that are often vigdefined and difficult to practically implemerithe costs of compliance with these laws
increase in the future as a result of changest@rpretation. Furthermore, any failure on our partomply with these laws may subject us to
significant liabilities.

Our business is subject to a variety of other UaBd foreign laws, many of which are unsettled antillsieveloping and which could subject
us to claims or otherwise harm our business.*

We are subject to a variety of laws in the Unitéat&s and abroad, including laws regarding consymraection, intellectual property,
export and national security, that are continuoesiglving and developing. The scope and interptaif the laws that are or may be
applicable to us are often uncertain and may béictng, particularly laws outside the United Stat For example, laws relating to the liability
of providers of online services for activities betr users and other third parties are currentiggptested by a number of claims, including
actions based on invasion of privacy and othestamfair competition, copyright and trademarkimdement, and other theories based on the
nature and content of the materials searched,db@asted or the content provided by users. Iisiz likely that as our business grows and
evolves and our games are played in a greater nuofilceuntries, we will become subject to laws aegulations in additional jurisdictions.
We are potentially subject to a number of foreigd domestic laws and regulations that affect tiferioflg of certain types of content, such as
that which depicts violence, many of which are agabus, still evolving and could be interpreted iay that could harm our business or
expose us to liability. In addition, certain of @ames, includingynga Poker may become subject to gambling-related rulesraegdlations
and expose us to civil and criminal penalties ifdeenot comply. It is difficult to predict how exiisg laws will be applied to our business and
the new laws to which we may become subject.

If we are not able to comply with these laws onulagions or if we become liable under these lawsegulations, we could be directly
harmed, and we may be forced to implement new nmeaga reduce our exposure to this liability. Timay require us to expend substantial
resources or to modify our games, which would haumbusiness, financial condition and results afraions. In addition, the increased
attention focused upon liability issues as a resfllawsuits and legislative proposals could hatmreputation or otherwise impact the growth
of our business. Any costs incurred as a restthisefpotential liability could harm our businesslaperating results.

It is possible that a number of laws and regulatioray be adopted or construed to apply to us ittiieed States and elsewhere that
could restrict the online and mobile industriegluding player privacy, advertising, taxation, amttsuitability, copyright, distribution and
antitrust. Furthermore, the growth and developnoeéeiectronic commerce and virtual goods may proaafis for more stringent consumer
protection laws that may impose additional burdemgsompanies such as ours conducting businessgihttbe Internet and mobile devices. '
anticipate that scrutiny and regulation of our istty will increase and we will be required to devttigal and other resources to addressing
regulation. For example, existing laws or new laggarding the regulation of currency and bankirggifutions may be interpreted to cover
virtual currency or goods. If that were to occurmay be required to seek licenses, authorizatiompprovals from relevant regulators, the
granting of which may be dependent on us meetingicecapital and other requirements and we masugect to additional regulation and
oversight, all of which could significantly increaeur operating costs. Changes in current lawsgulations or the imposition of new laws and
regulations in the United States or elsewhere tiggithese activities may lessen the growth ofadagame services and impair our business.

Companies and governmental agencies may restrictess to Facebook, our website or the Internet gedigy which could lead to the loss «
slower growth of our player bas

Our players need to access the Internet and iicpkat Facebook and our website to play our gaif@esipanies and governmental
agencies could block access to Facebook, our veetisthe Internet generally for a number of reasuth as security or confidentiality
concerns or regulatory reasons, or they may adajuies that prohibit employees from accessing Baog, our website or other social
platforms. For example, the government of the Repfitepublic of China has blocked access to FadelmoGhina. If companies or
governmental entities block or limit access to faod or our website or otherwise adopt policiesrigting players from playing our games
business could be negatively impacted and coulditieshe loss or slower growth of our player base.
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Our business will suffer if we are unable to sucsédly integrate acquired companies into our busggor otherwise manage the growth
associated with multiple acquisitions.*

We have acquired businesses, personnel and tegje®lo the past and we intend to continue to etaland pursue acquisitions and
strategic investments that are complementary tagisting business and expand our employee basthartteadth of our offerings. Our abi
to grow through future acquisitions will dependtba availability of suitable acquisition and invesnt candidates at an acceptable cost, our
ability to compete effectively to attract these didates and the availability of financing to compliarger acquisitions. Additional challenges
and risks include:

» significant competition from other game companigeshe social game industry consolida

» the need to integrate the operations, systemsnédaties, products and personnel of each acquivatgpany, the inefficiencies ai
lack of control that may result if such integratisrdelayed or not implemented, and unforeseercdiffes and expenditures that
may arise in connection with integratic

» diversion of our managem¢'s attention away from our business and any diffieslencountered in the integration proc

» declining employee morale and retention issuedtiegdrom changes in, or acceleration of, comp#ingaor changes in
management, reporting relationships, or future peots;

» the need to implement controls, procedures andipslappropriate for a larger public company at ganies that prior t
acquisition had lacked such controls, procedurespaticies;

» risks associated with our expansion into new irggomal markets and doing business internationalttuding those describe
under the risk factor caption “Expansion into ingfonal markets is important for our growth, asdre expand internationally, we
will face additional business, political, regulatooperational, financial and economic risks, ahwhbich could increase our costs
and hinder such grow” elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Forn-Q;

* inthe case of foreign acquisitions, the need tegrate operations across different cultures anguages and to address
particular economic, currency, political and regoitg risks associated with specific countri

* in some cases, the need to transition operatiothpkayers onto our existing or new platforms arelgbtential loss of, or harm to,
our relationships with employees, players and asogpliers as a result of integration of new busies; an

« liability for activities of the acquired companyfbee the acquisition, including intellectual progyeand other litigation claims or
disputes, information security vulnerabilities, lgittons of laws, rules and regulations, commendigputes, tax liabilities and other
known and unknown liabilitie:

The benefits of an acquisition or investment map ahke considerable time to develop, and we cdmagertain that any particular
acquisition or investment will produce the intendehefits, which could adversely affect our bussresd operating results. Acquisitions could
result in potential dilutive issuances of equitgisities, use of significant cash balances or irenge of debt (and increased interest expense),
contingent liabilities or amortization expenseated to intangible assets or write-offs of goodwaiit/or intangible assets, which could
adversely affect our results of operations andelitie economic and voting rights of our stockhidde

Failure in pursuing or executing new business irgtives could have a material adverse impact on business and future growth.*

Our growth strategy includes evaluating, considgand effectively executing new business initisgiwghich can be difficult.
Management may not properly ascertain or assesssitseof new initiatives, and subsequent eventg ati@r the risks that were evaluated at
the time we decided to execute any new initiatirgtering into any new initiatives can also divaest management’s attention from other
business issues and opportunities. Failure to @fedg identify, pursue and execute new busineggtives, including real money gambling as
discussed below, may adversely affect our reputabasiness, financial condition arebsults of operations. We have stated publicly Weatre
evaluating the opportunity of expanding our busiértesinclude real money gambling. Although we mayuitimately pursue this opportunity,
we believe it could have risks that are differdvatrt those associated with other new initiativegdrticular, real money gambling is subject to
stringent, complicated and rapidly changing licegsind regulatory requirements, both federallyiarehch state, as well as internationally.
Regulatory and legislative developments may prewestgnificantly limit our ability to enter intoreucceed in real money gambling.
Becoming familiar with and complying with these u@gments will increase our costs and subject osiress to greater scrutiny by regulators
in many different jurisdictions. If our brand becesmassociated with real money gambling we maydasent players, advertisers or partners
or have difficulty attracting new players, adveetisor partners, which could adversely impact ausirtess.
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Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Wiffect our financial results, which we report it).S. dollars.

As we continue to expand our international operatiove become more exposed to the effects of fictos in currency exchange rates.
We incur expenses for employee compensation aret offerating expenses at our non-U.S. locatiotisdriocal currency, and an increasing
percentage of our international revenue is fronygriewho pay us in currencies other than the WoBard Fluctuations in the exchange rates
between the U.S. dollar and those other currerdakl result in the dollar equivalent of such exgenbeing higher and/or the dollar equive
of such foreignrdenominated revenue being lower than would be #élse & exchange rates were stable. This could aanegative impact on ¢
reported operating results.

The enactment of legislation implementing changesthe U.S. taxation of international business agties or the adoption of other tax
reform policies could materially impact our finanal position and results of operations.

The current administration has made public statésnedicating that it has made international téoma a priority, and key members of
the U.S. Congress have conducted hearings and ggdpe@w legislation. Recent changes to U.S. tag,lawluding limitations on the ability
taxpayers to claim and utilize foreign tax creditsl the deferral of certain tax deductions untihgeys outside of the United States are
repatriated to the United States, as well as clatm¥.S. tax laws that may be enacted in the éjttould impact the tax treatment of our
foreign earnings. Due to the large and expandiatgesaf our international business activities, ahgirges in the U.S. taxation of such activities
may increase our worldwide effective tax rate aadvhour financial position and results of operation

A change in the application of the tax laws of vatis jurisdictions could result in an increase to oworldwide effective tax rate and
change in how we operate our business.

Our corporate structure and intercompany arrangesneiuding the manner in which we develop anel agr intellectual property and
the transfer pricing of our intercompany transawiaare intended to provide us worldwide tax edficies. The application of the tax laws of
various jurisdictions, including the United Stat@spur international business activities is subjednterpretation and depends on our ability to
operate our business in a manner consistent witlkaporate structure and intercompany arrangem&htstaxing authorities of the
jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge methodologies for valuing developed technologintercompany arrangements, includ
our transfer pricing, or determine that the marinavhich we operate our business is not consistéthtthe manner in which we report our
income to the jurisdictions, which could increase worldwide effective tax rate and harm our finahposition and results of operations.

Our facilities are located near known earthquakeuta zones, and the occurrence of an earthquake ther natural disaster could cause
damage to our facilities and equipment, which coulglquire us to curtail or cease operations.

Our principal offices and network operations centee located in the San Francisco Bay Area, amlarewn for earthquakes, and are
thus vulnerable to damage. We are also vulnerabdiatage from other types of disasters, includimggr loss, fire, explosions, floods,
communications failures, terrorist attacks and lsimévents. If any disaster were to occur, ouritghib operate our business at our facilities
could be impaired.

We may require additional capital to meet our fineial obligations and support business growth, aridst capital might not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make significant investtaga support our business growth and may requid&ianal funds to respond to
business challenges, including the need to deved@pgames and features or enhance our existingggamgrove our operating infrastructure
or acquire complementary businesses, personnekahdologies. Accordingly, we may need to engagayinty or debt financings to secure
additional funds. If we raise additional funds tgh future issuances of equity or convertible delaurities, our existing stockholders could
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity geties we issue could have rights, preferencespivileges superior to those of holders of
Class A common stock. Any debt financing that weuse in the future could involve restrictive covetgrelating to our capital raising
activities and other financial and operational ewattwhich may make it more difficult for us to aint additional capital and to pursue business
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. Way not be able to obtain additional financingemms favorable to us, if at all. If we are
unable to obtain adequate financing or financingesms satisfactory to us when we require it, duilitg to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges dmukignificantly impaired, and our business mapémened.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock

The three class structure of our common stock hhs effect of concentrating voting control with thesstockholders who held our stock pr
to our initial public offering, including our founcer and Chief Executive Officer and our other exedut officers, employees and directors
and their affiliates; this limits our other stockHders’ ability to influence corporate matters.*

Our Class C common stock has 70 votes per shar€lass B common stock has seven votes per shdrewarClass A common stock
has one vote per share. Mark Pincus, our Chief ltkex Officer, beneficially owned approximately 58% of the total voting power of our
outstanding capital stock as of July 23, 2012. Assalt, Mark Pincus has significant influence other
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management and affairs of the company and contel matters requiring stockholder approval, inahgdihe election of directors and
significant corporate transactions, such as a mengether sale of our company or our assets. iic may hold this voting power for the
foreseeable future, subject to additional issuan€ssock by the company or sales or exercises hyFihcus. This concentrated voting control
limits the ability of our other stockholders tolugnce corporate matters and could adversely atfiectnarket price of our Class A common
stock.

Future transfers or sales by holders of Class Bnwomstock or Class C common stock will result iosil shares converting to Class A
common stock, which will have the effect, over timé&increasing the relative voting power of theseckholders who retain their existing
shares of Class B or Class C common stock. Iniaddias shares of Class B common stock are traesfer sold and converted to Class A
common stock, the sole holder of Class C commoekstdark Pincus, will have greater relative voticantrol to the extent he retains his
existing shares of Class C common stock, and asudtithe could in the future control a majorityoof total voting power. Mark Pincus is
entitled to vote his shares in his own interestsmay do so.

Certain provisions in our charter documents and uadDelaware law could limit attempts by our stocktiers to replace or remove our
board of directors or current management and lintite market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation dmdaws may have the effect of delaying or prevantihanges in our board of directors or
management. Our certificate of incorporation ankhg include provisions that:

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockhgtbposals to be brought before an annual meetiolyding proposed
nominations of persons for election to our boardioéctors;

» prohibit cumulative voting in the election of ditecs; anc
» reflect three classes of common stock, as disclesede.
These provisions may frustrate or prevent any gitefy our stockholders to replace or remove otect management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefreur board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. In addition, because we are incorgbiatBelaware, we are governed by the provisionSaaftion 203 of the Delaware General

Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delagvaorporation from engaging in any of a broad eaofjbusiness combinations with any
“interested” stockholder for a period of three yefmlowing the date on which the stockholder beeam “interested” stockholder.

Our share price has been and will likely continue be volatile.*

The trading price of our Class A common stock heenb and is likely to continue to be, highly vdiatind could be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to various factors, sofmeglich are beyond our control. Since shares of@ass A common stock were sold in our
initial public offering in December 2011 at a prioe$10.00 per share, through July 26, 2012, cacksprice has ranged from $2.97 to $15.91.
In addition to the factors discussed in these “Fiaktors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Reporfform 10-Q, factors that may cause
volatility in our share price include:

» changes in projected operational and financialltgs

» issuance of new or updated research or reportediyrisies analysts

e market rumors or press repol

» the use by investors or analysts of t-party data regarding our business that may nateefiur actual performanc
» the expiration of contractual lo-up agreement:

» fluctuations in the valuation of companies percéibg investors to be comparable to

» the activities, public announcements and finaréaformance of our commercial partners, such ashauk;

» fluctuations in the trading volume of our sharasthe size of our public float relative to the fatamber of shares of our Class
Class B and Class C common stock that are issudw@standing

» share price and volume fluctuations attributabletmnsistent trading volume levels of our shases
» general economic and market conditic

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencedragtprice and volume fluctuations that have adféend continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many companidese fluctuations often have been unrelatelisproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. These broad mankkindustry fluctuations, as well as general entinppolitical and market conditions
such as recessions, interest rate changes oratitanal currency fluctuations, may negatively imp&e market price of our Class A common
stock. In the past, companies that have experievakadility in the market price of their stock halveen subject to securities class action
litigation. We may be the target of this type d¢ifjiation in the future. Securities litigation agstius could result in substantial costs and divert
our management’s attention from other businessaras¢ which could harm our business.
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Our Class A common stock price may be volatile do¢hird-party data regarding our games.

Third parties, such as AppData, publish daily @dtaut us and other social game companies with cesp®AUs and MAUs and other
information concerning social game usage, in paldicon Facebook. These metrics can be volatildicoéarly for specific games, and in ma
cases do not accurately reflect the actual levielsage of our games across all platforms and magarrelate to our bookings or revenue fi
the sale of virtual goods. There is a possibilitgttthird parties could change their methodolofpesalculating these metrics in the future. To
the extent that securities analysts or investose iaeir views of our business or prospects on thiddt-party data, the price of our Class A
common stock may be volatile and may not refleetglrformance of our business.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch about our business, or publish negativearp about our business, our share pri
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stoclsdme extent, depends on the research and repattsdcurities or industry analysts
publish about our business. We do not have anyr@lomter these analysts. If one or more of the ysialwho cover us downgrade our share
lower their opinion of our shares, our share pviceld likely decline. If one or more of these arsdycease coverage of our company or fail to
regularly publish reports on us, we could losebiiigy in the financial markets, which could causg share price or trading volume to decline.

Future sales or potential sales of our Class A cowmstock in the public market could cause our shaméce to decline.*

We have a small public float relative to the tataimber of shares of our Class A, Class B and @assmmon stock that are issued and
outstanding and a substantial majority of our idsaled outstanding shares are currently restricteadrasult of securities laws, lock-up
agreements or other contractual restrictions #strict transfers.

Upon completion of the release of the underwritierskup from our public offerings, the last of whits currently scheduled to expire on
August 16, 2012, subject to extension in certaiouchstances, approximately 150 million shares bélkeligible for sale upon the expiration of
lock-up agreements, subject in some cases to voanmdether restrictions of Rule 144 and Rule 70deuthe Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. In addition, the holders of 363,241,14eshof Class B common stock, or 50.34% of oul tatestanding common stock, based on
shares outstanding as of June 30, 2012, will bidezhto rights with respect to registration ofskeshares under the Securities Act pursuant to
an investors’ rights agreement. If these holdemsunfClass B common stock, by exercising theirgigtion rights, sell a large number of
shares, they could adversely affect the markeegdc our Class A common stock. If we file a regifbn statement for the purposes of selling
additional shares to raise capital and are requgéaclude shares held by these holders pursaahetexercise of their registration rights, our
ability to raise capital may be impaired. Salesutfstantial amounts of our Class A common sto¢kermpublic market following the release of
the lock-ups or otherwise, or the perception thasé sales could occur, could cause the market pfiour Class A common stock to decline.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effeaiinternal control over financial reporting in théuture, the accuracy and timeliness
our financial reporting may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to maintain adequate internalrotsfor financial reporting in the future, or ifloauditors are unable to express an
opinion as to the effectiveness of our internaltaa as required pursuant to the Sarba@gkey Act, investor confidence in the accuracy of
financial reports may be impacted or the marketepdf our Class A common stock could be negatiiralyacted.

The requirements of being a public company may straur resources, divert management’s attention aaffect our ability to attract and
retain qualified board members.

We are subject to the reporting requirements ofStbeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,e0Exthange Act, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirents of the NASDAQ Global Select Market and othglimable securities rules and
regulations. Compliance with these rules and reuia has increased and will continue to increasdegal and financial compliance costs,
make some activities more difficult, time-consumorgcostly and increase demand on our systemsemudirces. The Exchange Act requires,
among other things, that we file annual, quartarig current reports with respect to our businedsoperating results.

We also expect that being a public company, sulbjetttese rules and regulations, will make it mexpensive for us to obtain director
and officer liability insurance, and we may be rieggi to accept reduced coverage or incur substhntigher costs to obtain coverage. These
factors could also make it more difficult for usatiract and retain qualified members of our badrdirectors, particularly to serve on our audit
committee and compensation committee, and qualifiegtutive officers.

As a result of disclosure of information in this&@terly Report on Form 1Q-and in our other public filings with the SEC aguired of ¢
public company, our business and financial conditiave become more visible, which we believe mayltén threatened or actual litigation,
including by competitors and other third partiésuch claims are successful, our business andatipgresults could be harmed, and even if
the claims do not result in litigation or are resal in our favor, these claims, and the time asdueces necessary to resolve them, could divert
the resources of our management and harm our kassamel operating results.
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We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseledinture.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and do not intend to pay anl daddends in the foreseeable
future. We anticipate that we will retain all ofrduture earnings for use in the development oftmusiness and for general corporate purposes.
Any determination to pay dividends in the futurdl e at the discretion of our board of directdkscordingly, investors must rely on sales of
their Class A common stock after price appreciatwnich may never occur, as the only way to readimg future gains on their investments.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities
None

Use of Proceeds

On December 15, 2011, our registration statemefitosm S-1 (File No. 333:75298) was declared effective for our initial palffering
pursuant to which we sold 100,000,000 shares cf<Cfacommon stock at a public offering price of $00per share for an aggregate offering
price of $1.0 billion. Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC a@bldman, Sachs & Co. acted as joint book runniagagers and representatives of the
underwriters for the offering, BofA Merrill LynctBarclays Capital Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securitie€ ldcted as additional joint book running
managers, and Allen & Company LLC acted as semenanager for the offering.

As a result of our initial public offering, we réeed net proceeds of $961.4 million, after dedugtimderwriting discounts and
commissions and other offering expenses. Noneeéipenses associated with the initial public affgewvere paid to directors, officers or
persons owning ten percent or more of our commacksdr to their associates, or to our affiliates.

We intend to use the net proceeds to us from ftialipublic offering for general corporate purpssicluding working capital, game
development, marketing activities and capital exiteines. In addition, we may use a portion of thecpeds from the initial public offering for
acquisitions of or investments in complementaryifesses, technologies or other assets. As of Jun203.2, the net offering proceeds have
been invested in money market funds, debt instrisnagfithe U.S. government and its agencies and ¢rigthit quality corporate issuers. There
has been no material change in the planned usmoé@ds from our initial public offering as desedtin our final prospectus filed with the
SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) on December 15, 2011.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1® Sixteenth Amended and Restated Certificate of pm@tion of Zynga Inc
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Zynga
4.1 Form of Zynga Inc. Class A Common Stock Certific:
10.1*f Amendment No. 2 to the Developer Addendum, dateg Mh 2010, by and between Zynga Inc. and Faceldook
10.2* Amendment No. 1 to the Developer Addendum No. Edl®ecember 26, 2010, by and between Zynga lacglbook, Inc. ar

Facebook Ireland Limitec
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10.3* Amendment No. 2 to the Developer Addendum No. Edi®ecember 26, 2010, by and between Zynga laceglbook, Inc.
and Facebook Ireland Limite

10.4* Offer Letter between Zynga Inc. and David Ko, dadegitember 21, 201

10.5® Offer Letter between Zynga Inc. and Steven Chidaged October 24, 201

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) promulgated utdeSecurities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amende

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuatRules 13-14(a) and 15-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exch

Act of 1934, as amende

32.1*0 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chlghancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiob@,3as adopted pursue

to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS*®) XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH*®  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL*®  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF*®  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunh
101.LAB*®  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurr
101.PRE*® XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

;
1
)
3
(4)
5)

(6)

Filed herewith

Confidential treatment has been requested witheidp certain portions of the exhik

Previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Regist’'s Current Report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-35375), filed with the Securities al
Exchange Commission on December 21, 2011, andpocated by reference here

Previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Registta Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File B83-175298), filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 17, 2011, ranmdtporated by reference here

Previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Registr’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1/A (File No. 33.-175298), filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on November 4, 2011, and imcated by reference here

Previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Registr's Amendment No. 6 to Forn-1 (File No. 33-180078), filed with the Securities a
Exchange Commission on November 17, 2011, and pacated by reference here

The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1amepany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q purst@aid8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2D62, and shall not be deemed “filday the Registrant for purposes of Section 1
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amer

Pursuant to applicable securities laws and reguiatithe Registrant is deemed to have complied twéhreporting obligation relating

the submission of interactive data files in suchilkits and is not subject to liability under anytigfraud provisions of the federal
securities laws as long as the Registrant has maged faith attempt to comply with the submisgiequirements and promptly amends
the interactive data files after becoming awar i interactive data files fails to comply wittetsubmission requirements. These
interactive data files are deemed not filed or pég registration statement or prospectus for gsep of sections 11 or 12 of the Secur
Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not fileddgogses of section 18 of the Securities Exchangeoft934, as amended, and
otherwise are not subject to liability under thesetions
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly causedl}barterly Report on Form 1Q-tc
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized, in the City of San Francisc@at& of California, on July 25, 2012.

Z YNGA | NC.

By: /s/ David M. Wehner
David M. Wehnel
Chief Financial Officer
(On behalf of Registran

By: /s/ Mark Vranesh
Mark Vranest
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer
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